Investigation of Heat Shock Protein 70 and Toll-like Receptor 4 functions during inflammation reaction by mechanical compression in human periodontal ligament cells

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (MD/PhD)

der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität

Bonn

Jana Marciniak

aus Gummersbach

2021

Angefertigt mit der Genehmigung Der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Bonn

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Michael Wolf, M.Sc.
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Andreas Jäger

Tag der Mündlichen Prüfung: 16.06.2021

Aus der Poliklinik für Kieferorthopädie Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Andreas Jäger

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	4
1. Abstract	5
2. Introduction & Aims with References	6
2.1 Introduction	6
2.2 Research Aims and Hypotheses	9
2.3 References	12
3. Publications	16
3.1 Study 1	16
3.2 Study 2	25
3.3 Study 3	34
4. Discussion with References	44
4.1 Discussion	44
4.2 Conclusions	47
4.3 References	48
5. Acknowledgements	52

List of Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody
cDNA	complementary desoxyribonucleic acid
DAMP	damage associated molecular pattern
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
HMGB1	High Mobility Group Protein B1
hPDL	human periodontal ligament
HSP	Heat shock proteins
HSP70	Heat shock protein 70
IL	Interleukin
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-8	Interleukin 8
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinases
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
mRNA	messenger Ribonucleic acid
NF-кВ	Nuclear factor κ B
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PDL	Periodontal ligament
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor κ B ligand
RT-PCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
SD	Standard deviation
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TLR-2	Toll-like receptor 2
TLR-4	Toll-like receptor 4
TRAP	Tartrate resistant acid phosphatase

1. Abstract

Biomechanical forces exerted during treatment with orthodontic appliances cause tensile and compressive strain within the periodontal ligament (PDL) of affected teeth followed by ischemia on the compression side. Further, a signaling cascade is initiated and proinflammatory cytokines are released, triggering host immune response with chemoattraction of immunocompetent cells. Periodontal remodeling and tooth movement by bone breakdown take place after osteoclast differentiation along the monocyte/ macrophage lineage. This complex process can go to excess with adverse side effects such as tooth root resorption. Understanding the whole process and finding targets for agents minimizing its dimension is crucial for avoiding an increased risk of tooth loss in later life. Among others, the importance of the nuclear protein High Mobility Group Protein B1 (HMGB1) in PDL cells during mechanical compression by orthodontic tooth movement has been analyzed thoroughly in different studies but research on factors such as Heat Shock Protein 70 (HSP70) and Toll-Like Receptor 4 (TLR-4) with crucial influence on HMGB1 signaling under these conditions have been missing so far or they were contradictory to previous studies. Thus the influence of these proteins on human periodontal ligament (hPDL) cells was examined with or without mechanical compression in this study. In addition, the proteins HSP70 and TLR-4 were blocked and hence inactivated by inhibitors during the experiments performed for unravelling their role and function.

HSP70 inhibition resulted in decreased proliferation and viability but increased apoptosis and necrosis of hPDL cells plus increased monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation. For experiments performed with mechanical compression, apoptosis and necrosis, cytokine expression, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were significantly increased upon additional HSP70 inactivation in comparison to cells stimulated with mechanical compression alone. In contrast, cytokine expression, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were significantly decreased upon additional TLR-4 inactivation in comparison to cells stimulated with mechanical compression alone.

In conclusion, HSP70 does exhibit a cytoprotective effect on hPDL cells concerning proliferation and viability in presence or absence of mechanical compression. Subsequent proinflammatory signaling, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation are initiated via TLR-4 interaction. Thus both proteins have therapeutic potential to be promising targets for prevention of adverse side effects during orthodontic tooth movement.

2. Introduction & Aims with References

2.1 Introduction

Progressed periodontitis caused by bacterial inflammation and orthodontic tooth movement are the main reasons for inflammation of the periodontal ligament (PDL), a soft connective tissue with a width between 0.15-0.21 mm lining the tooth roots (Baron et al., 2016; White and Pharoah, 2014). The fibroblastic cells in the PDL exhibit properties of fibroblasts, osteoblasts and leukocytes (Jönsson et al., 2010) due to their important role in alveolar bone formation, maintenance and repair, production of Sharpey's fibres mainly consisting of Collagen I. PDL cells respond to inflammation by pathogens mediated by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and to sterile inflammation by tissue injury caused by trauma and orthodontic tooth movement mediated by damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) via the toll-like receptor (TLR) system. These type I integral membrane pattern recognition receptors (Medzhitov, 2007) are involved in innate and adaptive host immune response transduction to microbial pathogens such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from gram-negative bacteria but also by various endogenous components released following injuries such as the DAMP molecule High Mobility Group Box B1 (HMGB1) protein (Gerwitz, 2003; Hasan et al., 2005; Zeuke et al., 2002). The protein HMGB1 binds to chromatin and acts as a regulator of gene transcription in the nucleus. Mechanical compression by orthodontic tooth movement causes ischemia in the PDL followed by cell damage and necrosis, initiating HMGB1 translocation from the nucleus into the extracellular space. There the protein acts as an alarmin activating proinflammatory signaling and immune responses because of its extracellular immune modulatory capacity during sterile and bacterial inflammation (Wang et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2012; Yamaba et al., 2015; Chen and Nunez, 2010). In the extracellular space, HMGB1 interacts with membrane receptors of the TLR system that were also demonstrated in periodontal tissues (Wang et al., 2003; Kinane et al., 2006) with hPDL cells constitutively expressing TLR-2 and TLR-4 (Sun et al., 2008; Hatakeyama et al., 2003; Tang et al., 2011). Mutually potentiating effects of periodontal inflammation due to both mechanical compression because of orthodontic tooth movement and periodontitis has been shown in a rat model to be the consequence of an excess in TLR-4 signaling that is triggered by both stimuli (Nogueira et al., 2014; Kirschneck et al., 2017 a, 2017 b). HMGB1 may signal through the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and via toll-like receptors TLR-2 and TLR-4 that cause a signaling cascade resulting in translocation of the cytoplasmic nuclear factor κ B (NF-κB) into the nucleus where it promotes inflammation activation by inducing upregulation of cytokine expression, leukocyte adhesion molecules and angiogenic factors but also of HMGB1 and its receptors. These proteins seem to be involved in a positive feedback mechanism whereby inflammation and angiogenesis in pathological conditions may be sustained; thus, they contribute to disease progression (van Beijnum et al., 2008). These findings from hematopoietic and endothelial cells are surely applicable for PDL cells as Lee and co-workers demonstrated cyclic mechanical stress causing TLR-2 and TLR-4 upregulation in PDL cells (Lee et al., 2012). Since contradicting data from other studies with TLR-2 and TLR-4 downregulation under the same conditions (Nogueira et al., 2014) exist, molecules and transduction cascades during the signaling involved in the mediation and transformation of mechanical cell stress during host immune responses need to be investigated further.

Several studies confirmed PDL fibroblasts expressing cytokines after compression due to mechanical loading during orthodontic tooth movement, resulting in migration of immune competent cells by chemoattraction via the vascularized PDL to the inflammation site. There they differentiate along the monocyte/macrophage lineage to clear the cellular debris, facilitate structural reorganization of the periodontium in the first phase. In a later stage, further differentiation into osteoclasts leads to breaking down bone and tooth movement (Jäger et al., 1993; Kim et al., 2010; Wolf et al., 2016). Further studies of Wolf and co-workers demonstrated an important role of HMGB1 during the process of orthodontic tooth movement including inflammation reaction in an early stage and the reestablishment of the periodontium's structural and functional integrity in a later stage (Wolf et al., 2014 a, 2014 b, 2014 c).

However, increased inflammation reaction and cytokine production by PDL cells might result in immune responses going to excess, resulting in adverse effects of orthodontic treatment such as alveolar bone height loss and tooth root resorption. Thus, pathologies characterized by a continuous proinflammatory state may benefit from therapeutic interference to dampen HMGB1 and the feedback mechanisms it promotes (Yamaguchi et al., 2006; Koide et al., 2010; van Beijnum et al., 2008).

Prevention of HMGB1 translocation from the nucleus into the extracellular space therefore offers a novel approach for attenuating or even abrogating an inflammation reaction after mechanical loading of PDL cells. According to studies by Tang and co-workers with murine macrophages, heat shock proteins (HSP) from the HSP70 family interact with HMGB1 and thereby prevent its cytoplasmic translocation and subsequent release. Furthermore, HSP70 was demonstrated to prevent NF-kB translocation from the cytoplasm into the nucleus, thereby interfering with the inflammation signaling cascade and hence with the HMGB1 proinflammatory function (Tang et al., 2007; Matsuda et al., 2010). HSP70 protein is well-characterized in various cell systems among the different HSP subgroups (Knowlton, 1995; Larson et al., 1995). Studies of Wong and co-workers confirmed that thermal stimulation, hypoxic or ischemic conditions promote expression and release of inducible HSP70 proteins into the cytoplasm where they support protein folding and stabilization, facilitate protein transportation across cell membranes, unfold denatured proteins and therefore contribute to cell survival under stress conditions (Wong et al., 1997 a, 1997 b). Important regulatory roles were attributed to this protein in PDL cells (Wolf et al., 2016) and HSP1A1 (encoding HSP70 gene) expression was elevated in the pressure zone of experimental tooth movement and thus activation of an intracellular defense system to secure cell survival was observed (Arai et al., 2010).

In summary, both TLR-4 and HSP70 appear to have crucial roles in HMGB1 signaling for inflammation reaction of various cells systems and tissues according to existing studies. Although HSPs and the influence of mechanical cell stress on hPDL cells are welldescribed, information is missing about the regulatory role of HSP70 in hPDL cells and their physiological function and in what manner hPDL cells are affected by HSPs under pathological conditions (Kanzaki et al., 2006 a, 2006 b; Nakao et al., 2007; Pinkerton et al., 2008). Although results describing the effect of mechanical cell stress in hPDL cells on TLR-4 expression exist, conflicting data were presented. Dependence on variables such as time, magnitude and type of force (tensile versus compression, cyclic versus constant) were observed. Existing data constraints justify need for further investigation of signaling molecules and signal transduction cascades involved in the mediation and transformation of mechanical cell stress into host immune responses and inflammation reaction by damaged and necrotic PDL cells due to ischemia from mechanical compression of the PDL during orthodontic tooth movement.

2.2 Research Aims and Hypotheses

The importance of HSP70 and TLR-4 for HMGB1 signaling during inflammatory response triggered by various stimuli has already been demonstrated for different cell types such as immune cells as macrophages (Fig. 1) (Tang et al., 2007) and endothelial cells (Fig. 2) (van Beijnum et al., 2008), respectively but it has yet to be elucidated for the fibroblasts of the periodontal ligament. Thus, this dissertation aimed to evidence the importance and expanding the knowledge about underlying regulatory mechanisms of HMGB1 signaling with a specific regard to HSP70 and TLR-4 in inflammation reaction during mechanical compression in the course of orthodontic tooth movement. Therefore, the experiments were performed with simulation of mechanical loading of hPDL cell cultures *in vitro* with and without both HSP70 and TLR-4 being blocked by means of a competitive allosteric inhibitor and a neutralizing antibody, respectively.

First, HSP70 function was to be assessed by examining the effect of the pharmaceutically used inhibitor VER155000 on physiological hPDL cell parameters including proliferation *in vitro* before examining the function of both HSP70 protein and TLR-4 receptor in PDL cells during inflammation reaction and subsequent host immune response following mechanical compression. Analysis of hPDL cell viability, cytokine expression, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation with and without stimulation by means of mechanical compression was performed. The utilized *in vitro* model of static compressive force mimics the *in vivo* situation occurring during orthodontic treatment. Changes in cell proliferation, viability, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation following HSP70 inhibition are hypothesized due to the HSP70 cell-protective properties mentioned in the studies above. Additionally, compromised hPDL cell viability, enhanced expression of proinflammatory cytokines and supported differentiation of monocytes/ macrophages along the osteoclastic pathway upon additional stimulation with compressive forces are assumed. Furthermore, inhibition of HSP70 was hypothesized to further pronounce the effects anticipated for mechanical loading alone.

Concerning the TLR-4 receptor inhibition, decreased inflammatory signaling, reduced monocyte migration and osteoclastic differentiation are expected as TLR-4 is hypothesized to be involved in the inflammation reaction and host immune response via HMGB1 signaling of hPDL cells according to the studies mentioned above and that is to be verified in the studies for the present dissertation for this cell type.



Fig. 1: Modes of action of the stress-inducible HSP72 of the HSP70 family for attenuation of cell signaling during inflammatory response of macrophages (Tang et al., 2007). HSP72 is a member of the HSP70 family. It is induced as a response to stress such as inflammation by bacteria and mechanical compression and prevents HMGB1 release from the nucleus into the cytoplasm and extracellular space, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) signaling and NF-κB translocation from the cytoplasm into the nucleus. Thus HSP72 attenuates inflammation reaction by prevention of transcription of cytokine genes such as interleukins plus other proinflammatory genes. The figure was taken from the study of Tang et al. (2007).



Fig. 2: HMGB1 signaling during inflammatory response involving TLR and RAGE membrane receptors and intracellular signaling cascades of endothelial cells (van Beijnum et al., 2008). After translocation from the nucleus into the extracellular space HMGB1 interacts with membrane receptors TLR-2, TLR-4 and RAGE of other cells that are hence activated that in turn activate intracellular signaling cascades, leading to NF-κB activation and translocation into the nucleus and hence transcription of proinflammatory cytokines and HMGB1 receptors.

The figure was taken from the study of van Beijnum et al. (2008).

2.3 References

Arai C, Nomura Y, Ishikawa M, Noda K, Choi JW, Yashiro Y, Hanada N, Nakamura Y. HSPA1A is upregulated in periodontal ligament at early stage of tooth movement in rats. Histochem Cell Biol 2010; 134: 337-343

Baron M, Hudson M, Dagenais M, Macdonald D, Gyger G, El Sayegh T, Pope J, Fontaine A, Masetto A, Matthews D, Sutton E, Thie N, Jones N, Copete M, Kolbinson D, Markland J, Nogueira-Filho G, Robinson D, Fritzler M, Wang M, Gornitsky M. Relationship between disease characteristics and oral radiologic findings in systemic sclerosis: results from a Canadian oral health study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2016; 68: 673-680

Chen GY, Nunez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10: 826-837

Gerwitz AT. Intestinal epithelial toll-like receptors: to protect. And serve? Curr Pharm Des 2003; 9:1-5

Hasan UA, Trinchieri G, Vlach J. Toll-like receptor signaling stimulates cell cycle entry and progress in fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 20620-20627

Hatakeyama J, Tamai R, Sugiyama A, Akashi S, Sugawara S, Takada H. Contrasting responses of human gingival and periodontal ligament fibroblasts to bacterial cell-surface components through the CD14/toll-like receptor system. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003; 18: 14-23

Jäger A, Radlanski RJ, Götz W. Demonstration of cells of the mononuclear phagocyte lineage in the periodontium following experimental tooth movement in the rat. An immunohistochemical study using monoclonal antibodies ED1 and ED2 on paraffinembedded tissues. Histochemistry 1993; 100: 161-166

Jönsson D, Nebel D, Bratthall G, Nilsson BO. The human periodontal ligament cell: a fibroblast-like cell acting as an immune cell. J Periodont Res 2011; 46: 153-157

a. Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Arai K, Takahashi I, Haruyama N, Nishimura M, Mitani H. Local RANKL gene transfer to the periodontal tissue accelerates orthodontic tooth movement. Gene Ther 2006; 13: 678-685

b. Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Sato A, Miyagawa A, Arai K, Nukatsuka S, Mitani H. Cyclical tensile force on periodontal ligament cells inhibits osteoclastogenesis through OPG induction. J Dent Res 2006; 85: 457-462

Kim YS, Lee YM, Park JS, Lee SK, Kim EC. SIRT1 modulates high-mobility group box 1-induced osteoclastogenic cytokines in human periodontal ligament cells. J Cell Biochem 2010; 111: 1310-1320

Kinane DF, Shiba H, Stathopoulou PG, Zhao H, Lappin DF, Singh A, Eskan MA, Beckers S, Waigel S, Alpert B, Knudsen TB. Gingival epithelial cells heterozygous for Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms Asp299Gly and Thr399lle are hypo-responsive to Porphyromonas gingivalis. Genes Immun 2006; 7: 190-200

a. Kirschneck C, Maurer M, Wolf M, Reicheneder C, Proff P. Regular nicotine intake increased tooth movement velocity, osteoclastogenesis and orthodontically induced dental root resorptions in a rat model. Int J Oral Sci 2017; 9: 174-184

b. Kirschneck C, Fanghänel J, Wahlmann U, Wolf M, Roldán JC, Proff P. Interactive effects of periodontitis and orthodontic tooth movement on dental root resorption, tooth movement velocity and alveolar bone loss in a rat model. Ann Anat 2017; 210: 32-43

Koide M, Kinugawa S, Takahashi N, Udagawa N. Osteoclastic bone resorption induced by innate immune responses. Periodontology 2000 2010; 54: 235-246

Knowlton AA. The role of heat shock proteins in the heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1995; 27: 121-131

Larson JS, Schuetz TJ, Kingston RE. In vitro activation of purified human heat shock factor by heat. Biochemistry 1995; 34: 1902-1911

Lee SI, Park KH, Kim SJ, Kang YG, Lee YM, Kim EC. Mechanical stress-activated immune response genes via Sirtuin 1 expression in human periodontal ligament cells. Clin Exp Immunol 2012; 168: 113-124

Massey AJ, Williamson DS, Browne H, Murray JB, Dokurno P, Shaw T, Macias AT, Daniels Z, Geoffroy S, Dopson M, Lavan P, Matassova N, Francis GL, Graham CJ, Parsons R, Wang Y, Padfield A, Comer M, Drysdale MJ, Wood M. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2010; 66: 535-545

Matsuda M, Hoshino T, Yamashita Y, Tanaka K, Maji D, Sato K, Adachi H, Sobue G, Ihn H, Funasaka Y, Mizushima T. Prevention of UVB Radiation-induced Epidermal Damage by Expression of Heat Shock Protein 70. J. Biol. Chem. 2010, 285:5848-5858

Medzhitov R. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. Nature 2007; 449: 819–826

Nakao K, Goto T, Gunjigake KK, Konoo T, Kobayashi S, Yamaguchi K. Intermittent force induces high RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. J Dent Res 2007; 86: 623-628

Nogueira AV, Nokhbehsaim M, Eick S, Bourauel C, Jäger A, Jepsen S, Cirelli JA, Deschner J. Regulation of visfatin by microbial and biomechanical signals in PDL cells. Clin Oral Investig 2014; 18:171-178

Pinkerton MN, Wescott DC, Gaffey BJ, Beggs KT, Milne TJ, Meikle MC. Cultured human periodontal ligament cells constitutively express multiple osteotropic cytokines and growth factors, several of which are responsive to mechanical deformation. J Periodon-tal Res 2008; 43: 343-351

Sun Y, Shu R, Zhang MZ Wu AP. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling plays a role in triggering periodontal infection. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2008; 52: 362-369

Tang D, Kang R, Xiao W, Wang H, Calderwood SK, Xiao X. The Anti-inflammatory Effects of Heat Shock Protein 72 Involve Inhibition of High-Mobility-Group Box 1 Release and Proinflammatory Function in Macrophages. J Immunol July 15, 2007, 179 (2) 1236-1244

Tang L, Zhou XD, Wang Q, Zhang L, Wang Y, Li XY, Huang DM. Expression of TRAF6 and pro-inflammatory cytokines through activation of TLR2, TLR4, NOD1, and NOD2 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. Arch Oral Biol 2011; 56:1064-1072

van Beijnum JR, Buurman WA, Griffioen AW. Convergence and amplification of toll-like receptor (TLR) and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) signaling pathways via high mobility group B1 (HMGB1). Angiogenesis 2008; 11: 91-99

Wang PL, Ohura K, Fujii T, Oido-MoriM, Kowashi Y, Kikuchi M, Suetsugu Y, Tanaka J. DNA microarray analysis of human gingival fibroblasts from healthy and inflammatory gingival tissues. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 305:970-973

White SC, Pharoah MJ. Oral radiology: principles and interpretation. 7th ed. St. Louis: Elsevier; 2014

a. Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Küpper K, Jäger A. Regulation of high mobility group box protein 1 expression following mechanical loading by orthodontic forces in vitro and in vivo. Eur J Orthod 2014; 36: 624-631

b. Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Craveiro R Jäger A. High-mobility group box protein-1 released by human-periodontal ligament cells modulates macrophage migration and activity in vitro. Innate Immun 2014; 20: 688-696

c. Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Römer P, Craveiro RB, Deschner J, Jäger A. Anabolic properties of high mobility group box protein-1 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. Mediat Inflamm 2014; 347585

Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Römer P, Kirschneck C, Küpper K, Deschner J, Jäger A. Shortterm heat pre-treatment modulates the release of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells following mechanical loading and affects monocyte behavior. Clin Oral Investig 2016; 20: 923-931

a. Wong HR, Ryan M, Menendez IY, Denenberg A, Wispe JR. Heat shock protein induction protects human respiratory epithelium against nitric oxide-mediated cytotoxicity. Shock 1997; 8: 213-218

b. Wong HR, Ryan M, Wispe JR. The heat shock response inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression by blocking I-kappa-B degradation and NF-kappaB nuclear translocation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 231: 257-263

Yamaba S, Yamada S, Kajikawa T, Awata T, Sakashita H, Tsushima K, Fujihara C, Yanagita M, Murakami S. PLAP-1/Asporin regulates TLR2- and TLR4-induced inflammatory responses. J Dent Res 2015; 94: 1706-1714

Yamaguchi M, Aihara N, Kojima T, Kasai K. RANKL increase in compressed periodontal ligament cells from root resorption. J Dent Res 2006; 85: 751-756

Zeuke S, Ulmer AJ, Kusumoto S, Katus HA, Heine H. TLR4-mediated inflammatory activation of human coronary artery endothelial cells by LPS. Cardiovasc Res 2002; 56:126-134

3. Publications

3.1 Study 1

Role of HSP70 protein in human periodontal ligament cell function and physiology

Michael Wolf, **Jana Marciniak**, Stefan Lossdörfer, Christian Kirschneck, Isabel Brauner, Werner Götz, Andreas Jäger

> Annals of Anatomy 2019; 221: 76-83 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2018.09.006 Impact factor²⁰¹⁹: 2.388

Annals of Anatomy 221 (2019) 76-83



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Role of HSP70 protein in human periodontal ligament cell function and physiology



Annals of

ANATOMY

Michael Wolf^{a,*}, Jana Marciniak^{a,b}, Stefan Lossdörfer^b, Christian Kirschneck^c, Isabel Brauner^a, Werner Götz^b, Andreas Jäger^b

^a Department of Orthodontics, University Hospital of the RWTH Aachen, Germany
 ^b Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Bonn, Germany
 ^c Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Regensburg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 February 2018 Received in revised form 6 June 2018 Accepted 14 September 2018

Keywords: Heat shock proteins Human PDL cells Inhibitor VER155008 Proliferation Wound healing

ABSTRACT

Objective: Heat pre-treatment of mechanically loaded human periodontal ligament cells (hPDL) dampens the inflammatory cellular response, as evidenced by a reduced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, inhibition of monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation. These findings imply heat shock proteins (HSP) as cell protective molecules acting in the PDL that are up-regulated upon ischemia caused by mechanical loading. HSP70 and its inhibition by VER155008 as the active agent in several pharmaceuticals are established targets and strategies, respectively, in the treatment of neoproliferative diseases. However, the effect of both players on periodontal remodeling in unknown. Therefore, we analyzed the role of HSP70 and its frequently used inhibitor VER155008 in the regulation of physiological hPDL cell functions and immune cell interaction.

Materials and Methods: Fifth passage hPDL cells were cultured in the presence of 25 μm HSP70 inactivating agent VER155008. At harvest, HSP70 expression, cell proliferation, and parameters of cell interaction, colony formation and wound healing were analyzed by means of real-time PCR, immunohistochemistry, Western blot, biochemical MTS assay, microscopy, and functional assays for monocyte adhesion and differentiation.

Results: Basal HSP70 expression and hPDL cell morphology were not affected by HSP70 inhibitor VER155008. In contrast, cell proliferation, tissue defect healing, and colony formation were reduced significantly following HSP70 inhibition, whereas apoptosis and necrosis, monocyte adhesion and osteo-clastic differentiation were markedly increased.

Conclusions: The present data indicate a regulatory role for HSP70 protein in hPDL cell biology.

*Clinical relevance*² These findings identify HSP70 as a promising target in the attempt to modify periodontal remodeling and point to potential periodontal side effects of HSP70 pharmaceutical usage.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier GmbH.

1. Introduction

Mechanical loading of the periodontal ligament (PDL) leads to ischemic conditions of the local microenvironment followed by a cascade of signaling events which eventually result in enhanced periodontal remodeling allowing for orthodontic tooth movement. Within this complex process, circulatory disturbances and cell stress evoke necrosis of a certain proportion of cells with subsequent initiation of a host immune response. This response is characterized by a chemoattraction of immune competent cells and their differentiation along the monocyte/macrophage lineage to clear the cellular debris and facilitate a structural reorganization of the periodontium in the first phase and tooth movement in a later stage (Jäger et al., 1993; Kim et al., 2010; Wolf et al., 2016). In case of an immune response going to excess, loss of alveolar bone height and tooth root resorption have been reported as adverse effects of orthodontic treatment (Yamaguchi et al., 2006; Koide et al., 2010). Recently, heat pre-treatment of human PDL cells (hPDL) was demonstrated to result in the retention of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6, high-mobility-group-box protein 1 and interleukin-8 and, thereby, limited the inflammatory response in vitro (Wolf et al., 2016). Those findings indicate a cytoprotective role for heat shock proteins in hPDL cells which has already been described comprehensively for other cell sys-

^{*} Corresponding author at: Pauwelsstr. 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany. *E-mail address:* michwolf@ukaachen.de (M. Wolf).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2018.09.006 0940-9602/© 2018 Published by Elsevier GmbH.

tems and tissues (Collier and Schlesinger, 1986; Knowlton, 1995; Larson et al., 1995). Heat shock proteins (HSP) are released into the cytoplasm upon thermal stimulation, ischemic or hypoxic conditions and support protein folding and stabilization, facilitate protein transportation across cell membranes, and unfold denatured proteins and, thereby, contribute to cell survival under stress conditions (Wong et al., 1997a, 1997b). Despite of several reports in the literature addressing PDL cell response to various stimuli including mechanical loading (Kanzaki et al., 2006a; Kanzaki et al., 2006b; Nakao et al., 2007; Pinkerton et al., 2008), little information is available on the regulatory role of HSP in hPDL cells under pathological conditions and even less regarding their physiological function. Arai and co-workers reported on elevated HSP1A1 expression, which is the encoding gene for HSP70, in the pressure zone of experimental tooth movement and concluded on the activation of an intracellular defense system to secure cell survival (Arai et al., 2010). Kwon et al. proved the involvement of HSP27 in the mediation of transforming growth factor- $\beta 1$ induced migration of hPDL cells and, thereby, identified HSP27 as a potential target for the regeneration process related to cell migration (Kwon et al., 2011). In another study, the temporal expression of HSP25 in regenerating nerve fibers and denervated Schwann cells was observed in the periodontal ligament following transection of the inferior alveolar nerve (Iijima et al., 2003). Yoshimatsu et al. reported on an enhanced expression of HSP47, which is actively involved in the regulation of collagen I synthesis, in the tension zone during orthodontic tooth movement (Yoshimatsu et al., 2008). Finally, a differential expression pattern of HSPs has been described in different endodontic periapical lesions (Goodman et al., 2014).

However, information on the function of HSP in hPDL cell physiology, also in conditions requiring its inhibition for medical reasons, is still missing. Therefore, in our study, we focused on HSP70 since this protein is well-characterized in various cell systems (Knowlton, 1995; Larson et al., 1995) and has already been attributed important regulatory roles in PDL cells (Wolf et al., 2016). HSP70 is a member of the actin class of ATPase proteins, HSP70 possesses a specific ATP binding domain and its function is dependent on energy release by cleavage of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). We, therefore, conducted specific inhibitor experiments to throw light on the role of HSP70 in the regulation of physiological cell functions in PDL remodeling. The HSP70 inhibitor VER155008 blocks the ATP binding site and, therefore, acts as an ATP-competitive inhibitor that prevents allosteric control between the nucleotide binding domain (NBD) and the substrate binding domain (SBD) by binding to the NBD of HSP70 and arresting it in a half-open conformation (Schlecht et al., 2013).

We hypothesized that an inhibition of HSP70 by HSP70 inhibitor VER155008 would result in a modification of important hPDL functional parameters including cell proliferation and viability via changes of cell necrosis and apoptosis. To gain further knowledge of potential periodontal side effects when HSP70 targeting pharmaceutics are used hPDL cell interaction and monocyte physiology was addressed by analyzing colony formation, defect healing, monocyte adheasion and osteoclastic differentiation.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. PDL cell culture and HSP70 inhibitory treatment

Fifth passage human PDL cells (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) were seeded in duplicate into 24-well plates (n = 6) in a density of 10000 cells/well and cultured to confluence prior to further experimental stimulation. Cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 0.5% antibiotics (diluted from a stock solution containing 5000 U/ml penicillin and 5000 U/ml streptomycin;

Biochrom AG, Germany) at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 100% humidity, 95% air, and 5% CO₂ (Lossdörfer et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2014a; Wolf et al., 2014b). Prior to experimental use, cells were characterized for their mesenchymal origin as described previously (Lossdörfer et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2014a; Wolf et al., 2014b). To investigate the effect of HSP70 protein and its inhibition HSP70 inhibitor and pharmaceutically used agent VER155008 was applied according to the protocol of Wen and co-workers using a working concentration of 25 μ m (Wen et al., 2014).

2.2. Gene expression experiments and real-time PCR

To determine the effect of HSP70 protein and its inhibition on HSP70 mRNA expression and on proliferative marker genes with an expected peak occurring earlier at the transcriptional level than at the functional level, fifth passage hPDL cells were seeded in a density of 30000 cells/well in 6-well plates using the protocol mentioned above. At subconfluence, hPDL cells were exposed to HSP70 inhibitor for 24h (Wen et al., 2014). Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls. At harvest, the expression of Ki-67 as a candidate gene associated with proliferation were analyzed by real-time PCR as described previously [25]. The primer sequences used were as follows: Ki-67 sense 5'-AAA-TTC-AGA-CTC-CAT-GTG-CCT-GAG-3', antisense 5'-TCA-AAT-ACTT-CAC-TGT-CCC-TAT-GAC' (Winter et al., 2012). The house keeping gene β -actin served as an endogenous reference (sense 5'-CAT-GGA-TGA-TGA-TAT-CGC-CGC-G-3', antisense 5'-ACA-TGA-TCT-GGG-TCA-TCT-TCT-CG-3') (Kraus et al., 2012).

2.3. Proliferation assay

The importance of HSP70 function and its inhibition by HSP70 inhibitor treatment on hPDL cell proliferation was examined by means of MTS assay according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, hPDL cells were seeded into 96-well plates in a density of 1500 cells/well in the presence of HSP70 inhibitor for 3 d. Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls. Thereafter, the reagents for MTS (Promega GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) were added and cells were incubated at 37 °C for another 2 h prior to a reading of colorimetric changes using a photometer at 490 nm and 450 nm with a reference wavelength of 690 nm (Wolf et al., 2016).

2.4. Colony forming assay

To analyze possible changes in colony forming activity, hPDL cells were seeded on 6-well plates at a density of 1500 cells/well and stimulated with HSP70 inhibitor for 5 w. Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls. Formed colonies were stained with crystal violet (Sigma Aldrich, Schnelldorf, Germany). To quantify the size of the colonies at the bottom of the wells, three images of each well were captured at a magnification of \times 100 and the colony formation areas were quantified as a function of total area.

2.5. Wound healing assay

To study wound healing, a well-established in vitro model was a used (Clericuzio et al., 2014; Zhan et al., 2014). Confluent monolayer hPDL cells in 6-well plates were linearly scratched in the midline from 12 to 6 o'clock with the tip of a sterile 1000 μ l pipette resulting in a wound width of 813.15 μ m \pm 173.23 μ m. Cells were gently rinsed with PBS to remove any remaining cells debris. Thereafter, HSP70 inhibitor was added for 7 d. Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls. On each day of culture, three images per well were captured at \times 100 magnification, and the width of the scratched cleft was quantified as a function of total width on day 0.

2.6. Cell viability

PDL cells and supernatants from non-treated/HSP70 inhibitortreated cultures were harvested for analysis of apoptosis and necrosis by means of cell death detection ELISA (Roche Diagnostics Deutschland GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. With this photometric immunoassay, the amount of mono- and oligonucleosomes, i.e. histone-associated DNA fragments was detected qualitatively and quantitatively. The abundance of nucleosomes in the supernatant originating from ruptured cells from osmotic lysis determines the rate of necrosis, while the rate of apoptosis was determined by nucleosomes in the cytoplasm.

2.7. THP1 cell adhesion assay

To examine the influence of HSP70 inhibition on hPDL cell induced monocyte adhesion, CFSE labelled THP1 cells (DSMZ GmbH, Germany) were cultured in 24-well plates in the presence of the conditioned medium collected from hPDL cells pre-treated with HSP70 inhibitor for 24 h. After 4 h of incubation, non-adherent THP1 cells were removed. Adherent THP1 cells were documented photographically using a fluorescence microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) and quantified using the cell counter freeware ImageJ (National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA) (Winning et al., 2010). Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls.

2.8. Osteoclastic differentiation assay

To analyse the effect of HSP70 inhibition on PDL cell ability to induce osteoclastic differentiation, mononuclear cells of the monocyte and macrophage lineage (RAW264.7 cells; CLS cell line services, Eppelheim, Germany) were pre-differentiated along the osteoclastic pathway in the presence of 30 ng/ml RANKL (Axxora, Lörrach, Germany) and 20 ng/ml M-CSF (BioCat, Heidelberg. Germany) and shown to form multinuclear osteoclastic cells after five days in culture staining positively for tartrate-resistent acid phosphatase (TRAP) (Lossdörfer et al., 2011). Thereafter, such pre-differentiated cells were seeded on cover slips in 24well-plates at a seeding density of 1000 cells/well and cultured in the conditioned medium of HSP70 inhibitor pre-treated PDL cells supplemented with 15 ng/ml RANKL and 10 ng/ml M-CSF for 12 d. Medium was changed every three days. At harvest, TRAP staining was performed to visualize osteoclast differentiation. Vehicle-treated cultures (DMSO) served as controls. To quantify the number of TRAP-positive multinucleated cells, cover slips were photographed microscopically and analyzed by the help of Axiovision software (Zeiss, Jena, Germany). Four images were captured per specimen at x100 magnification and the TRAP-positive area was quantified as a function of total area.

2.9. Statistical analysis

All data were analysed by Student's t test. P values <0.05 were considered to be significant. The data are representative of two replicate experiments, which both yielded similar results.

3. Results

3.1. Effect on hPDL cell proliferation

To analyze the specific role of HSP70 in hPDL physiology, the possible impact on functional parameters was addressed. The addi-



Fig. 1. Role for HSP70 in the regulation of hPDL cell proliferation. Following culture of the cells in the presence of HSP70 inhibitor, real-time PCR for Ki-67 (A) and MTS assay (B) both revealed a significant reduction in proliferative activity as compared to the untreated control. Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 6 independent experiments. 12 < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control.

tion of HSP70 inhibitory reagent VER155008 to the cultures for 24 h was used to analyze the regulatory role of HSP70 on hPDL cell proliferation. HSP70 inactivation led to a significant reduction of proliferation marker Ki-67 gene expression (\sim 50%; Fig. 1A) as well as of a reduced proliferation activity in the functional MTS assay (\sim 55%; Fig. 1B).

3.2. Regulatory effect on colony formation

To gain further information on the capability of HSP70 to organize cell interconnection as an important factor for tissue formation, a colony formation assay was carried out. Following the addition of the HSP70 inhibitor to the culture medium, colony formation was visibly inhibited (Fig. 2A). Compared to untreated control cell cultures, tissue formation and interconnection of hPDL cells was significantly reduced by ~78% when HSP70 inhibition treatment was applied (Fig. 2B).

3.3. Impact on tissue regeneration

To address the physiological relevance of cell interconnection and tissue formation, a tissue defect regeneration assay was performed. Investigating the process of tissue repair, confluent interconnected hPDL cell cultures were scratched and then cultured for another 7 days in the presence or absence of HSP70 inhibitor VER155008. As a result of HSP70 inactivation, hPDL "tissue regeneration" was slowed down significantly. In contrast to

78

20



Fig. 2. Influence of HSP70 activity on hPDL cell interconnectivity. Inactivation of HSP70 protein in cell cultures resulted in a significantly reduced colony forming activity over 5 d compared to control cultures as visualized by crystal violet staining of the cultures (A) and quantification of the staining results (B). Each value represents the mean ± SD for 6 independent experiments. *P<0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control;.

control cultures, in which wound healing was completed within 3d, inhibitor treated hPDL cells needed 5 d on average (Fig. 3).

3.4. Influence on hPDL cell necrosis and apoptosis

Examining the effect of HSP70 on hPDL cell viability, enhanced cell necrosis was noticed when the HSP70 inhibitor was applied. Compared to untreated hPDL cells, necrosis was increased approximately 2.76-fold when HSP70 inhibitor was added (Fig. 4). Likewise hPDL cell necrosis, mechanisms inducing programmed cell death were also upregulated in the course of HSP70 inactivation as evidenced by a significant increase in hPDL cell apoptosis in the presence of HSP70 inhibition treatment (3.71-fold) (Fig. 5).

3.5. Role for HSP70 and it's inhibition treatment on the regulation of monocyte adhesion

In the attempt to analyze the effect of HSP70 inhibition pre-treatment on hPDL cell and osteoclastic precursor cell interaction, a monocyte adhesion assay was performed. Compared to untreated controls, monocyte adhesion was enhanced by factor \sim 1.25 (Figs. 6A, B) when hPDL cells received HSP70 inhibition treatment initially. The difference between both groups reached the level of significance.

3.6. Effect of HSP70 and it's inhibition treatment on osteoclastic differentiation

The conditioned medium from hPDL cell cultures induced the differentiation of mononuclear RAW264.7 cells along the osteoclastic line on a basal level. A significant increase in TRAP positive cell formation was noted when monocytes were cultured in the presence of conditioned medium of hPDL cells which received HSP70 inhibition treatment (Figs. 7A, B).

4. Discussion

The present study investigated the role of HSP70 in the regulation of crucial cell functions under physiological, unstimulated conditions using VER155008 as a competitive inhibitor of HSP70 ATPase activity. Data revealed a cell protective effect of the protein. In the presence of HSP70 inhibitor treatment, important hPDL physiological factors such as proliferation, colony formation and wound healing were significantly reduced, whereas necrosis and programmed cell death markedly increased. Likewise, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were enhanced.

It has to be acknowledged that VER155008 inhibits HSP70 but also glucose-related protein 78, another chaperone of the HSP family involved in the process of protein folding and glucose metabolism (Macias et al., 2011; Biswas et al., 2014). Thus, the observed effects might result from the inhibition of targets other than HSP70.

The agent used to down regulate HSP70 protein to analyse its function in hPDL cells is well-established not only in HSP70 basic research, but also frequently used as an active agent in pharmaceuticals for HSP70 inhibition treatment of neurodegenerative and neoproliferative diseases (Jiang et al., 2013). As demonstrated by real-time PCR and Western blot data HSP70 inhibition by VER155008 has a specific interaction with the ATPase binding domain of HSP70, thus inhibiting its activity (Wen et al., 2014).

Proliferation of hPDL cells markedly decreased in the presence of the HSP70 inhibitor in our study and this observation is also supported by observations by Wen *et al.* in non-small-cell lung carcinoma cells (NSCLC). These authors even provide an explanatory mechanism of action. Performing cell cycle analysis, they found that the HSP70 inhibitor VER155008 dramatically inhibited cell cycle progression with treatment. Loss of HSP70 activity induced an increase of the number of NSCLC cells in G0/G1, whereas the percentage of cells in the S phase decreased significantly. In support of these results, markers of cell cycle progression including cyclin A, extracellular-signal regulated kinase, and phosphorylated Akt were also reduced in the presence of the inhibitor (Wen et al., 2014). From these findings, a pro-proliferative effect of HSP70 can



Fig. 3. HSP70 regulates defect regeneration in hPDL cells. The cell free zone (area between the dashed lines) generated by scratching the wells gradually filled until wound healing was completed and this process was slowed down significantly during the first three days in the absence of active HSP70. Thereafter, from day 4, the wound fill rate in both groups was comparable (A: immunohistochemical staining; magnification × 100; B: quantitative analysis). Each value represents the mean ± SEM for 6 independent experiments. *P<0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control

d2

d3

d4

d5

d6

d1

d0

be presumed not only for malignantly transformed cells, but also for normal cells underlining the importance of hPDL cells in periodontal tissue remodelling and regeneration.

In the light of the findings for proliferation, the results of the colony formation and regeneration experiments seem reasonable, since HSP70 inhibition reduced proliferation significantly and, thereby, prolonged the period needed for the cells to establish cell-to-cell contacts. Once those contacts were established, the artificially induced gap filled quickly until complete closure of the wound was reached within a few days only. These findings underline the importance of cellular interconnectivity and communication and of a possible role for HSP70 for a prompt

reestablishment of the periodontal architecture in case of physiological remodeling and of injury. The results of the colony forming assay are confirmed by the results of Massey et al. obtained in colon carcinoma cells (Massey et al., 2010). Interestingly, in the cited experiments, a minimum of 40 µm VER155008 or greater was necessary for a robust reduction of colony formation in cancer cells, whereas a concentration of 25 μm was sufficient for significant inhibition in hPDL cells, suggesting a higher sensitivity of non-transformed cells to HSP70 inhibition. An additional explanation might be the commonly reported overexpression of HSP correlated with a wide range of tumors (Jaattela, 1995; Vargas-Roig et al., 1997; Ravagnan et al., 2001) requiring higher concentra-

Α

21

M. Wolf et al. / Annals of Anatomy 221 (2019) 76-83



Fig. 4. Inhibitory effect of HSP70 on hPDL cell necrosis. The abundance of nucleosomes in the supernatant originating from ruptured cells from osmotic lysis determined the rate of necrosis. As depicted, necrosis was enhanced ~2.76-fold when cells were exposed to HSP70 inhibitor. Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 6 independent experiments. ¹P <0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control.

tions of the inhibitor for successful inhibition. The data of our regeneration assay are further supported by those from Boroughs et al. who also reported on attenuated defect closure upon stimCell apoptosis

Fig. 5. Inhibition of HSP70 enhances programmed cell death of hPDL cells. As determined by photometric assay, HSP70 inactivation resulted in a significant increase in hPDL cell apoptosis (\sim 3.71-fold). Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 6 independent experiments. *P<0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control.

ulation of cells with VER155008 (Boroughs et al., 2011). In the light of the present data and its reports in literature, a significant role of HSP70 biology and in regenerative capacity can be assumed.







Fig. 6. Influence of HSP70 inhibitory treatment on monocyte adhesion. Monocyte adhesion increased significantly, when cells were cultured in the presence of the conditioned medium collected from hPDL cells that had been exposed to HSP70 inhibitor as compared to those exposed to the supernatant of untreated hPDL control cultures. The visual impression (A) was confirmed by quantitative analysis (B). Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 6 independent experiments. *P<0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control.

M. Wolf et al. / Annals of Anatomy 221 (2019) 76-83



Fig. 7. HSP70 inhibition resulted in enhanced osteoclastic differentiation.Likewise monocyte adhesion, osteoclastic differentiation was enhanced when precursors where challenged with the conditioned medium of HSP 70 inhibitor pre-treated hPDL cells. The visual impression (A) was confirmed by quantitative analysis (B). Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 6 independent experiments. P<0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control.

Previous reports indicate that HSP70 inhibition using the pharmaceutical agent VER155008 induces apoptosis in several cell line including HCT116 cells (Massey et al., 2010), myeloma cells (Chatterjee et al., 2013), and lung cancer cells (Nylandsted et al., 2000), while having minimal effects on non-cancer cells. Furthermore, recent studies demonstrate that selective depletion of HSP70 induced cell death in lung cancer cells (Nylandsted et al., 2000), but not in normal lung cells (Frese et al., 2003). Strategies to increase the radiosensitivity of tumor cells include the selective inhibition of cytoprotective proteins including HSP70. Apart from that, HSP70 inactivation has been shown to enhance the sensitivity of tumor cells to apoptosis induced by certain anticancer drugs (Fani et al., 2016; Schilling et al., 2017). Here, we demonstrate a proapoptotic as well as a necrosis inducing effect of HSP70 inhibition in normal hPDL cells supporting its potential harming effect the periodontal system in patients receiving HSP70 targeting pharmaceutics.

Summarizing the cited reports on the effect of HSP70 and its inhibition, it becomes apparent that the described effects were mostly observed in tumor cell lines while the same treatment regimen had only minimal or even no effect in peritumorous healthy tissue or normal cells in vitro. Here, we describe a hPDL cell response to HSP70 inhibition that demonstrates that besides tumour cells also the non-tumours transformed periodontal system shows an increased sensitivity to HSP70 inhibitory treatment regimens and establishes HSP70 protein as an important factor to maintain hPDL cell physiology. This might represent a special characteristic of this cell type that warrants further exploration in future experiments. In summary, the present results indicate a regulatory role of HSP70 in the maintenance of periodontal tissue homeostasis and control of PDL physiology. The present findings provide further evidence that HSP70 might play a crucial role in periodontal remodeling and identify this chaperone as a promising target for future intervention strategies to influence this process. Such intervention strategies might comprise the therapy of inflammatory periodontal disease or help minimize side effects of orthodontic tooth movement.

Furthermore, the present data indicate the risk for unwanted side effects within the periodontal system when systemic pharmaceutical interventions addressing HSP70 are carried out.

Funding sources

We thank the medical faculty of the University of Bonn (Germany) and Aachen (Germany) to support this research.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2018.09.006.

References

- Arai, C., Nomura, Y., Ishikawa, M., Noda, K., Choi, J.W., Yashiro, Y., Hanada, N., Nakamura, Y., 2010. HSPA1A is upregulated in periodontal ligament at early stage of tooth movement in rats. Histochem. Cell Biol. 134, 337–343.
- Biswas, N., Friese, R.S., Gayen, J.R., Bandyopadhyay, G., Mahata, S.K., O'Connor, D.T., 2014. Discovery of a novel target for the dysglycemic chromogranin A fragment

pancreastatin: interaction with the chaperone GRP78 to influence metabolism. PLoS One 9, e84132.

- Boroughs, L.K., Antonyak, M.A., Johnson, J.L., Cerione, R.A., 2011. A unique role for heat shock protein 70 and its binding partner tissue transglutaminase in cancer cell migration. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 37094–37107.
- Chatterjee, M., Andrulis, M., Stuhmer, T., Muller, E., Hofmann, C., Steinbrunn, T., Heimberger, T., Schraud, H., Kressmann, S., Einsele, H., Bargou, R.C., 2013. The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway regulates the expression of Hsp70, which critically contributes to Hsp90-chaperone function and tumor cell survival in multiple myeloma. Haematologica 98, 1132–1141.
- Clericuzio, M., Burlando, B., Gandini, G., Tinello, S., RAnzato, E., Martinotti, S., Cornara, E., 2014. Keratinocyte wound healing activity of galactoglycerolipids from the fern Ophioglossum vulgatum L. J. Nat. Med. 68, 31–37.
 Collier, N.C., Schlesinger, M.J., 1986. The dynamic state of heat shock proteins in
- Collier, N.C., Schlesinger, M.J., 1986. The dynamic state of heat shock proteins in chicken embryo fibroblasts. J. Cell Biol. 103, 1495–1507.Fani, S., Kamalidehghan, B., Lo, K.M., Nigjeh, S.E., Keong, Y.S., Dehghan, F., Soori, R.,
- Fani, S., Kamaiudenghan, B., Lo, K.M., Nigjen, S.E., Keong, Y.S., Denghan, F., Soori, K., Abdulla, M.A., Chow, K.M., Ali, H.M., Hajiaghaalipour, F., Rouhollahi, E., Hashim, N.M., 2016. Anticancer activity of a monobenzyltin complex C1 against MDA-MB-231 cells through induction of Apoptosis and inhibition of breast cancer stem cells. Sci. Rep. 6, 38992.Frese, S., Schaper, M., Kuster, J.R., Miescher, D., Jaattela, M., Buehler, T., Schmid,
- Frese, S., Schaper, M., Kuster, J.R., Miescher, D., Jaattela, M., Buehler, T., Schmid, R.A., 2003. Cell death induced by down-regulation of heat shock protein 70 in lung cancer cell lines is p53-independent and does not require DNA cleavage. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 126, 748–754.Goodman, S.C., Letra, A., Dorn, S., Araujo-Pires, A.C., Vieira, A.E., Chaves de Souza, L.,
- Goodman, S.C., Letra, A., Dorn, S., Araujo-Pires, A.C., Vieira, A.E., Chaves de Souza, L., Yadlapati, M., Garlet, G.P., Silva, R.M., 2014. Expression of heat shock proteins in periapical granulomas. J. Endod. 40, 830–836.
- Iijima, K., Harada, F., Hanada, K., Nozawa-Inoue, K., Aita, M., Atsumi, Y., Wakisaka, S., Maeda, T., 2003. Temporal expression of immunoreactivity for heat shock protein 25 (Hsp25) in the rat periodontal ligament following transection of the inferior alveolar nerve. Brain Res. 979, 146–152.
 Jaattela, M., 1995. Over-expression of hsp70 confers tumorigenicity to mouse
- Jaattela, M., 1995. Over-expression of hsp70 confers tumorigenicity to mouse fibrosarcoma cells. Int. J. Cancer 60, 689–693.
- Jäger, A., Radlanski, R.J., Götz, W., 1993. Demonstration of cells of the mononuclear phagocyte lineage in the periodontium following experimental tooth movement in the rat. An immunohistochemical study using monoclonal antibodies ED1 und ED2 on paraffin-embedded tissues. Histochemistry 100, 161–166.
- Jiang, Y., Rumble, J.L., Gleixner, A.M., Unnithan, A.S., Pulugulla, S.H., Posimo, J.M., Choi, H.J., Crum, T.S., Pant, D.B., Leak, R.K., 2013. N-Acetyl cysteine blunts proteotoxicity in a heat shock protein-dependent manner. Neuroscience 255, 19–32.
- Kanzaki, H., Chiba, M., Arai, K., Takahashi, I., Haruyama, N., Nishimura, M., Mitani, H., 2006a. Local RANKL gene transfer to the periodontal tissue accelerates orthodontic tooth movement. Gene Ther. 13, 678–685.
- Kanzaki, H., Chiba, M., Sato, A., Miyagawa, A., Arai, K., Nukatsuka, S., Mitani, H., 2006b. Cyclical tensile force on periodontal ligament cells inhibits osteoclastogenesis through OPG induction. J. Dent. Res. 85, 457–462.
- Kim, Y.S., Lee, Y.M., Park, J.S., Lee, S.K., Kim, E.C., 2010. SIRT1 modulates high-mobility group box 1-induced osteoclastogenic cytokines in human periodontal ligament cells. J. Cell Biochem. 111, 1310–1320.
- Knowlton, A.A., 1995. The role of heat shock proteins in the heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 27, 121–131.
- Koide, M., Kinugawa, S., Takahashi, N., Udagawa, N., 2010. Osteoclastic bone resorption induced by innate immune responses. Periodontology 2000 (54), 235–246.Kraus, D., Deschner, J., Jager, A., Wenghoefer, M., Bayer, S., Jellam, J.P., Novak, N., Meyer, R., Winter, J., 2012. Human beta-defensins differently affect
- Novak, N., Meyer, R., Winter, J., 2012. Human beta-defensins differently affect proliferation, differentiation, and mineralization of osteoblast-like MG63 cells. J. Cell Physiol. 227, 994–1003.
- Kwon, S.M., Kim, S.A., Fujii, S., Maeda, H., Ahn, S.C., Yoon, J.H., 2011. Transforming growth factor beta1 promotes migration of human periodontal ligament cells through heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 34, 486–489. Larson, J.S., Schuetz, T.J., Kingston, R.E., 1995. In vitro activation of purified human
- heat shock factor by heat. Biochemistry 34, 1902–1911. Lossdörfer, S., Götz, W., Jäger, A., 2011. PTH(1-34)-induced changes in RANKL and
- OPG expression by human PDL cells moloffy osteoclast biology in a co-culture model with RAW 264.7 cells. Clin. Oral Investig. 15, 941–952.
- Macias, A.T., Williamson, D.S., Allen, N., Borgognoni, J., Clay, A., Daniels, Z., Dokurno, P., Drysdale, M.J., Francis, G.L., Graham, C.J., Howes, R., Matassova, N., Murray, J.B., Parsons, R., Shaw, T., Surgenor, A.E., Terry, L., Wang, Y., Wood, M., Massey, A.J., 2011. Adenosine-derived inhibitors of 78 kDa glucose regulated protein (Grp78) ATPase: insights into isoform selectivity. J. Med. Chem. 54, 4034–4041.

- Massey, A.J., Williamson, D.S., Browne, H., Murray, J.B., Dokurno, P., Shaw, T., Macias, A.T., Daniels, Z., Geoffroy, S., Dopson, M., Lavan, P., Matassova, N., Francis, G.L., Graham, C.J., Parsons, R., Wang, Y., Padfield, A., Comer, M., Drysdale, M.J., Wood, M., 2010. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90 inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 66, 535–545.
- Nakao, K., Goto, T., Gunjigake, K.K., Konoo, T., Kobayashi, S., Yamaguchi, K., 2007. Intermittent force induces high RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. J. Dent. Res. 86, 623–628.
- Nylandsted, J., Rohde, M., Brand, K., Bastholm, L., Elling, F., Jaattela, M., 2000. Selective depletion of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) activates a tumor-specific death program that is independent of caspases and bypasses Bcl-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 7871–7876.
- Pinkerton, M.N., Wescott, D.C., Gaffey, B.J., Beggs, K.T., Milne, T.J., Meikle, M.C., 2008. Cultured human periodontal ligament cells constitutively express multiple osteotropic cytokines and growth factors, several of which are responsive to mechanical deformation. J. Periodontal Res. 43, 343–351.
- Ravagnan, L., Gurbuxani, S., Susin, S.A., Maisse, C., Daugas, E., Zamzami, N., Mak, T., Jaattela, M., Penninger, J.M., Garrido, C., Kroemer, G., 2001. Heat-shock protein 70 antagonizes apoptosis-inducing factor. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 839–843. Schilling, D., Garrido, C., Combs, S., Multhoff, G., 2017. The Hsp70 inhibiting peptide
- Schilling, D., Garrido, C., Combs, S., Multhoff, G., 2017. The Hsp70 inhibiting peptide aptamer A17 potentiates radiosensitization of tumor cells by Hsp90 inhibition. Cancer Lett. 390, 146–152. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2017.01.015, Epub 2017 Jan 18. PubMed PMID: 28108313.Schlecht, R., Scholz, S.R., Dahmen, H., Wegener, A., Sirrenberg, C., Musil, D., Bomke,
- Schlecht, R., Scholz, S.R., Dahmen, H., Wegener, A., Sirrenberg, C., Musil, D., Bomke, J., Eggenweiler, H.M., Mayer, M.P., Bukau, B., 2013. Functional analysis of Hsp70 inhibitors. PLoS One 8, e78443.
- Schlesinger, M.J., 1986. Heat shock proteins: the search for functions. J. Cell Biol. 103, 321–325.
- Vargas-Roig, L.M., Fanelli, M.A., Lopez, L.A., Gago, F.E., Tello, O., Aznar, J.C., Ciocca, D.R., 1997. Heat shock proteins and cell proliferation in human breast cancer biopsy samples. Cancer Detect. Prev. 21, 441–451.
- Wen, W., Liu, W., Shao, Y., Chen, L., 2014. VER155008, a small molecule inhibitor of HSP70 with potent anti-cancer activity on lung cancer cell lines. Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood) 239, 638–645.
- (Maywood) 259, 556–645.
 Winning, S., Splettscesser, F., Fandrey, J., Frede, S., 2010. Acute hypoxia induces HIF-independent monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells through increased intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression: the role of hypoxic inhibition of prolyl hydroxylase activity for the induction of NF-kappa B. J. Immunol. 185, 1786–1793.
- Winter, J., Mohr, S., Pantelis, A., Kraus, D., Allam, J.P., Novak, N., Reich, R., Martini, M., Jepsen, S., Gotz, W., Wenghoefer, M., 2012. IGF-1 deficiency in combination with a low basic hBD-2 and hBD-3 gene expression might counteract malignant transformation in pleomorphic adenomas in vitro. Cancer Invest. 30, 106–113.
- Wolf, M., Lossdörfer, S., Küpper, K., Jäger, A., 2014a. Regulation of high mobility group box protein 1 expression following mechanical loading by orthodontic forces in vitro and in vivo. Eur. J. Orthod. 36, 624–631.
- Wolf, M., Lossdörfer, S., Römer, P., Bastos Craveiro, R., Deschner, J., Jäger, A., 2014b. Anabolic properties of high mobility group box protein-1 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. Mediat. Inflamm. 2014, 347585.
- Wolf, M., Lossdorfer, S., Romer, P., Kirschneck, C., Kupper, K., Deschner, J., Jager, A., 2016. Short-term heat pre-treatment modulates the release of HMGB1 and proinflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells following mechanical loading and affects monocyte behavior. Clin. Oral Investig. 20, 923–931.
- Wong, H.R., Ryan, M., Menendez, I.Y., Denenberg, A., Wispe, J.R., 1997a. Heat shock protein induction protects human respiratory epithelium against nitric oxidemediated cytotoxicity. Shock 8, 213–218.
- Wong, H.R., Ryan, M., Wispe, J.R., 1997b. The heat shock response inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression by blocking I kappa-B degradation and NFkappa B nuclear translocation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 231, 257–263. Yamaguchi, M., Aihara, N., Kojima, T., Kasai, K., 2006. RANKL increase in compressed
- periodontal ligament cells from root resorption. J. Dent. Res. 85, 751–756. Yoshimatsu, M., Uehara, M., Yoshida, N., 2008. Expression of heat shock protein 47 in
- the periodontal ligament during orthodontic tooth movement. Arch. Oral Biol. 53, 890–895.
- Zhan, Y., Wang, N., Liu, C., Chen, Y., Zheng, L., He, L., 2014. A novel taspine derivative HMQ1611, suppresses adhesion, migration and invasion of ZR-75-30 human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer 21, 334–340.

3.2 Study 2

Heat shock protein 70 dampens the inflammatory response of human PDL cells to mechanical loading in vitro

Jana Marciniak, Stefan Lossdörfer, Christian Kirschneck, James Deschner, Andreas Jäger, Michael Wolf

Journal of Periodontal Research 2019; 54: 481-488 https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12648 Impact factor²⁰¹⁹: 2.926 Accepted: 11 February 2019

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Revised: 4 February 2019

Heat shock protein 70 dampens the inflammatory response of human PDL cells to mechanical loading in vitro

Jana Marciniak^{1,2} | Stefan Lossdörfer² | Christian Kirschneck³ | James Deschner⁴ | Andreas Jäger² | Michael Wolf¹

¹Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany

²Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany ³Department of Orthodontics, Dental

Clinic, University of Regensburg, Regensburg, Germany

⁴Department of Periodontology and Restorative Dentistry, University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany

Correspondence

Jana Marciniak, Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany. Email: jana_marciniak@hotmail.de **Background and objective:** Previously, we demonstrated an inflammatory response of human PDL (hPDL) cells to mechanical loading. The cellular reaction was dampened by heat pre-treatment suggesting a protective role for heat shock proteins (HSP) during stress-induced ischemia. Here we explored if HSP70, which has already been documented in the pressure zone of tooth movement, might be regulatorily involved in the attenuation of the inflammatory response.

Materials and methods: Fifth passage hPDL cells were mechanically loaded in the presence of the HSP70 inhibitor VER155008. Cell morphology, HSP70 expression, viability, IL-6 and IL-8 expression were determined by means of microscopy, realtime-PCR and ELISA. The conditioned medium of mechanically loaded and pre-treated hPDL cells was used to culture monocytes to identify a potential impact on adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation capacity.

Results: Mechanical cell stress resulted in a significant increase of pro-inflammatory parameters. HSP70 inhibition led to a further enhancement of cytokine expression. The conditioned medium of mechanically loaded hPDL cells significantly increased monocyte adhesion and differentiation along the osteoclastic pathway. VER155008 pronounced this effect significantly.

Conclusion: The results indicate a regulatory role for HSP70 in the control of the inflammatory hPDL cell response to mechanical loading and identify HSP70 as a target in the attempt to attenuate tissue damage during orthodontic tooth movement. Furthermore, the present findings point to the risk of increased periodontal destruction when medication targeting HSP70 is applied for severe medical conditions during orthodontic tooth movement.

KEYWORDS

heat shock protein, human PDL cells, inflammatory response, inhibitor VER155008, mechanical loading, monocyte physiology

1 | INTRODUCTION

Biomechanical forces, as applied to the periodontal ligament (PDL) in order to facilitate orthodontic tooth movement, can result in both a pro- and anti-inflammatory tissue response depending on factors such as the magnitude and nature of force, that is, tensile vs compressive strain.¹⁻⁴ The exposure of cell cultures to compressive strain was demonstrated to lead to the increase in the pro-inflammatory molecules interleukin-1 β and interleukin-6.⁴ Kanzaki et al⁵ reported on enhanced osteoclastic activity induced by RANKL expression in

-WILEY- Journal of Periodontal research

response to static mechanical compression. Furthermore, in vivo experiments showed pro-inflammatory effects of experimental orthodontic forces as well.⁶ Within the complex process of host response to mechanical cell stress, an immune reaction is initiated⁷⁻⁹ which, when going to excess, can result in undesired side effects such as tooth root resorption and loss of alveolar bone height.^{10,11} We recently reported that heat pre-treatment of human PDL cells (hPDL) limited the inflammatory response in vitro resulting from the stimulation of the retention of pro-inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-6, -8, and high-mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1).⁹ Similar observations on the cytoprotective role for heat shock proteins (HSPs) have already been described comprehensively for other tissues and cell systems.¹²⁻¹⁵ When released upon ischemic or hypoxic conditions, as can be found in the course of mechanical loading of cells, HSPs contribute to cell survival by supporting protein folding and stabilization as well as unfolding of denatured proteins.^{16,17} Although HSPs and the influence of mechanical cell stress on hPDL cells are well-described,¹⁸⁻²¹ little is known on how HSPs affect hPDL cells under pathological conditions. An enhanced expression of the encoding gene for HSP70 was demonstrated in the pressure zone of experimental tooth movement indicating the activation of an intracellular defense system to secure cell survival.²² HSP27 was attributed a supportive role in the regeneration process related to cell migration.²³ Finally, HSP47 as a regulator of collagen I processing and quality control was shown to be upregulated in the tension zone of orthodontic tooth movement.²⁴

In the present study, we focused on HSP70 since this protein is well-characterized in various cell systems^{13,14} and has already been subject of investigation in hPDL cells.⁹ To further unravel the role of HSP70 in hPDL cell physiology, we used the frequently pharmaceutically used HSP70 inhibitor VER15008 to block the ATP binding domain of HSP and, thereby, inactivate its function which is largely dependent on energy release by cleavage of adenosine triphosphate (ATP).²⁵

We hypothesized that compressive orthodontic-like forces would result in compromised hPDL cell viability, enhance the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and promote the differentiation of monocytes/macrophages along the osteoclastic pathway. Furthermore, we speculated that an inhibition of HSP70 activity by VER15008 would further pronounce the effects anticipated for mechanical loading alone.

WOLF ET AL.

2 | MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 | PDL cell culture

Fifth passage human PDL cells (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) were seeded in duplicate into 6-well plates (n = 6) in a density of 10 000 cells/well and cultured to confluence prior to further experimental stimulation. Cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 0.5% antibiotics (diluted from a stock solution containing 5000U/mL penicillin and 5000U/mL streptomycin; Biochrom AG, Germany) at 37°C in an atmosphere of 100% humidity, 95% air, and 5% CO₂. Prior to experimental use, cells were characterized for their mesenchymal origin as described previously.²⁶⁻²⁸

To investigate the effect of HSP70 protein and its inhibition by VER155008, the protocol established by Wen et al²⁹ was adopted using a working concentration of 25 μ mol/L for the inhibitor.

2.2 | Mechanical loading experiments

Confluent hPDL cells were subjected to compressive forces according to the protocol introduced by Kanzaki and co-workers.^{5,30} Round glass plates were placed on top of the cells before the addition of another 1 mL DMEM containing 0.1% FBS. For illustration purposes, please refer to Figure 1.

At harvest, the cell culture supernatant (further referred to as conditioned medium) was collected and stored at -80° C for later quantitative analysis of IL-6 and IL-8 protein expression and for further stimulation experiments with murine RAW264.7 cells for examination of osteoclastic differentiation.³¹

2.3 | Quantification of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression

Following mechanical loading, the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines was quantified at the transcriptional level by means of realtime-PCR as described above using the following primer sequences according to Römer et al: IL-6 sense 5'-CAG-GAG-CCC-AGC-TAT-GAA-CT-3', antisense 5'-AGC-AGG-CAA-CAC-CAG-GAG-3'; IL-8 sense 5'- AGA-CAG-CAG-AGC-ACA-CAA-GC-3', antisense 5'- ATG-GTT-CCT-TCC-GGT-GGT-3'.³²



FIGURE 1 Experimental set-up for hPDL cell experiments. Experimental conditions tested: physiological cell culture conditions (adherently growing hPDL cells at 70% confluence in full medium) vs simulated orthodontic compressive force (force of 2 g/cm²) applied by a 17.1 g glass disk according to the method of Kanzaki and co-workers^{5,30}

Commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits were used according to the manufacturer's instructions in order to quantify the protein expression of IL-6 and IL-8 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) in supernatants of hPDL cells that had been exposed to compressive cell stress and/or 25 μ m of the HSP70 inhibitor VER15008 before.

2.4 | Cell viability

PDL cells and supernatants were harvested for analysis of apoptosis and necrosis by means of cell death detection ELISA (Roche Diagnostics Deutschland GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. With this photometric immunoassay, the amount of mono- and oligonucleosomes, that is histone-associated DNA fragments was detected qualitatively and quantitatively. The abundance of nucleosomes in the supernatant originating from ruptured cells from osmotic lysis determines the rate of necrosis, while the rate of apoptosis was determined by nucleosomes in the cytoplasm.

2.5 | Monocyte adhesion assay

To examine the influence of altered hPDL cell cytokine release on immune cell adhesion, CFSE-labeled THP1 cells (DSMZ GmbH, Germany) were seeded on confluent hPDL cells after treatment with HSP70 inhibitor and mechanical loading in 6-well plates at a density of 10 000 cells/well. After 4 hours of incubation, non-adherent THP1 cells were removed. Adherent THP1 cells were documented photographically using a fluorescence microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) and quantified using the cell counter freeware ImageJ (National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).³³

2.6 | Osteoclastic differentiation assay

Mononuclear cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage were shown to form multinuclear osteoclastic cells in culture staining positively for tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP).^{26,34} Three hundred thousand RAW264.7 cells/well (CLS cell line services, Eppelheim, Germany) were cultured for 7 days in the presence of the conditioned medium of hPDL cells that had been mechanically loaded and exposed to HSP70 inhibitor VER15008 as described above. Medium was changed every 3 days. Following stimulation, TRAP staining was performed to visualize osteoclastic differentiation. To quantify the number of TRAP-positive multinucleated cells, 10 images per well were captured at a magnification of × 100 and the TRAP-positive area was quantified as a function of total area.

2.7 | Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed by Student's t-test. *P*-values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. The data are representative of two replicate experiments which both yielded similar results. Only one set of experiments is presented.

3 | RESULTS

In support of reports in the literature and of own findings for hPDL cells (unpublished data), 25 μm VER15008 did not affect HSP70 mRNA nor protein expression when added to the cultures for 24 hours.

3.1 | Effect on hPDL cell viability

Regarding cell viability, mechanical loading induced an increase of DNA fragmentation (×3.16) and this effect was significantly pronounced when HSP70 was inhibited (another 1.37-fold compared to mechanical challenge alone) (Figure 2). The reduced viability resulted from both enhanced apoptosis and necrosis of hPDL cells in the presence of the inhibitor (data not shown).

3.2 | Pro-inflammatory cytokine expression

Likewise, mechanical cell stress also stimulated mRNA transcription and protein release of pro-inflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells. In the absence of the HSP70 inhibitor, IL-6 transcription was enhanced by 20.92-fold, whereas protein production increased ~73.96-fold. When VER15008 was added to the culture medium, IL-6 mRNA expression further rose by factor 83.35 and 1.58-fold at the protein



FIGURE 2 Inhibition of HSP70 pronounces the reduction of hPDL cell viability induced by mechanical loading. As determined by photometric assay, mechanical loading of hPDL cells resulted in a 3.16-fold increase of DNA fragmentation as compared to the untreated control. HSP70 inactivation during mechanical cell stress led to a further 1.37-fold stimulation of DNA fragmentation as compared to loading alone. Each value represents the mean±SD for six independent experiments. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs vehicle-treated control; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs mechanical loading alone



FIGURE 3 Influence of HSP70 activity on the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines following mechanical loading of hPDL cells. Mechanical loading of hPDL cells resulted in a 20.92-fold increase of IL-6 mRNA expression (A) and increased that of IL-8 by 73.96-fold (C). Those effects were significantly increased when the protective influence of HSP70 was inhibited by additional HSP70 inhibitor treatment (IL-6: 1743.65fold; IL-8: 5029.39-fold). Similar results were obtained at the protein level (B, D). Each value represents the mean±SD for six independent experiments. *P < 0.05, experimental group vs vehicle-treated control; #P < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs mechanical loading alone

level (Figure 3 A,B). Simultaneous mechanical loading and HSP70patinactivation led to an ~68-fold up regulation of IL-8 mRNA transcriptionfection and ~1.85-fold enhancement of protein production as comparedincto mechanical cell stress alone (Figure 3 C,D).fec

3.3 | Immune cell interaction

The number of adherent migrated monocytes increased in mechanical loading experiments (×1.50) and further rose by factor ~1.55 when the combined treatment regimen consisting of loading and HSP70 inhibition was applied (Figure 4 A,B). Finally, the differentiation of mononuclear RAW264.7 cells along the osteoclastic pathway was induced by mechanical loading (×1.53) and further stimulated when HSP70 inhibitor was added to the cultures during the loading protocol (×1.30) (Figure 5 A,B).

4 | DISCUSSION

The present study addressed the potential cell protective role of HSP70 in mechanical loading induced inflammatory hPDL cell response as occurring during orthodontic tooth movement. Mechanical cell stress led to reduced cell viability and enhanced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as monocyte adhesion and their differentiation along the osteoclastic pathway. Following inactivation of HSP70 protein activity, the effects observed for mechanical stimulation alone were significantly increased.

We recently demonstrated the effectiveness of VER15008 as an inhibitor of HSP70 activity that interacts with its ATPase binding domain, although its specificity does not seem to exist exclusively for HSP70, but also for glucose-related protein 78, another chaperone of the HSP family involved in the process of protein folding and glucose metabolism.35,36 Thus, the effects reported here might result from the inhibition of targets other than HSP70. However, VER155008 is well-established in HSP70 basic research and its suitability for inactivating HSP70 is further corroborated by dose-response experiments.^{35,36} The observation that neither cell morphology nor HSP70 expression or production were modified by HSP70 inhibition in hPDL cells is not irritating, but consistent with a specific interaction with the ATPase binding domain of HSP70, thus inhibiting its activity, but not its production or cell morphology. Similar findings were reported in non-small cell lung carcinoma cells.²⁹

It seems that hPDL cells express a higher sensitivity to the inhibitor than malignantly transformed cells as evidenced by a concentration of 25 µmol/L necessary for successful inhibition of HSP70 in hPDL cells vs 40 µmol/L reported in tumor cells.³⁷ Alternatively, the commonly reported overexpression of HSP70 associated with a wide range of tumors³⁸⁻⁴⁰ requiring higher concentrations

(A) (A) (not for the control of th



FIGURE 4 Mechanical loading and HSP70 inactivation result in enhanced monocyte adhesion. HSP70 inactivation during mechanical cell stress led to a further increase in the number of adherent monocytes (\times 1.55) as compared to mechanical loading alone (\times 1.50). The visual impression (A) was confirmed by quantitative analysis (B). Each value represents the mean±SD for six independent experiments. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs vehicle-treated control; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs mechanical loading alone

of the inhibitor for successful inhibition might be referred to for explanation. $^{\rm 38\text{-}40}$

In the present investigation, cell viability was markedly decreased by compressive strain as evidenced by increased DNA fragmentation. This effect resulted from an enhanced number of hPDL cells undergoing apoptosis and necrosis. The cell protective effect of HSP70 in this respect became obvious when the inhibitor VER15008 was added to the culture medium, leading to a further enhancement of those parameters. There is evidence in the literature that HSP70 inhibition by HSP70 inhibitor VER15008 induces apoptosis in several cell lines and the importance of HSP70 for securing cell survival was elaborated in selective depletion experiments inducing cell death in lung cancer cells.^{37,41,42} Furthermore, the mechanism of action of certain anticancer drugs founds on the inactivation of HSP70 leading to enhanced sensitivity of tumor cells to apoptosis. In addition, treatment regimens in oncology include strategies to increase the radiosensitivity of tumor cells by selective inhibition of cytoprotective proteins such as HSP70.43,44 Together

with our previous findings of a pro-proliferative effect of HSP70, the crucial role of HSP70 for hPDL cell viability becomes clearly evident, both under physiological conditions as well as in the course of mechanical cell stress.

Apart from cell viability, our data indicate an anti-inflammatory effect of HSP70 in mechanical cell stress-induced hPDL cell response as evidenced by increased cytokine expression and production of IL-6 and IL-8 when HSP70 inhibitory treatment is applied. These findings are in line with the results of Luo et al⁴⁵ who demonstrated a role for HSP70 in suppressing the production of IL-6, IL-8, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in fibroblast-like synoviocytes by inhibiting the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases and nuclear factor- κ B signaling pathways. Further support comes from animal experiments in brain injury research where the pharmacological induction of HSP70 by 17-allylamino-demethoxygeldana mycin significantly reduced brain edema and motor neurological deficits. Those clinical improvements were associated with a significant reduction of the expression levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines





FIGURE 5 HSP70 regulates osteoclastic differentiation induced by mechanical loading of hPDL cells. The conditioned medium of mechanically loaded hPDL cells stimulated the differentiation of mononuclear RAW264.7 cells along the osteoclastic pathway. The number of TRAP-positive cells (A) increased ~1.53-fold when the mechanical loading protocol was applied. The addition of HSP70 inhibitor to the cell culture medium further enhanced osteoclastic differentiation (1.30-fold) (B). Each value represents the mean±SD for six independent experiments. *P < 0.05, experimental group vs vehicle-treated control; #P < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs mechanical loading alone

IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β .⁴⁶ As already outlined, it was recently demonstrated in hPDL cells that a heat pre-treatment prior to mechanical loading markedly increased HSP70 expression and stimulated the retention of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-8, and high-mobility group box protein 1.⁹ Those findings indicate a cytoprotective role of HSPs during mechanical cell stress. Together with the inhibitory impact of HSP on monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation which points at an additional immune modulatory effect, activation of HSP70 may lower an exaggerated host response and, thereby, control or even limit the extent of tissue damage or even loss during orthodontic tooth movement.

In summary, the present data widen current knowledge of the regulation of periodontal remodeling and warrant the particular

attention directed to the cytoprotective role of HSP70 by providing evidence for this protein being a key regulator of hPDL cell viability and inflammatory host response under mechanical loading during orthodontic tooth movement.

5 | CONCLUSION

The present findings provide further evidence that HSP70 might play a crucial role in periodontal remodeling and identify this chaperone as a promising target for future intervention strategies to influence this process. Furthermore, these data indicate the risk for unwanted side effects within the periodontal apparatus when pharmaceutical

WOLF ET AL.

interventions addressing HSP70 for severe medical conditions are carried out simultaneously to orthodontic tooth movement.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the medical faculties of the University of Bonn and University of Aachen (both Germany) for their support of this research. The authors declare no conflict of interest.

ORCID

Jana Marciniak D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5535-2263 Michael Wolf https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5882-3080

REFERENCES

- Agarwal S, Long P, Seyedain A, Piesco N, Shree A, Gassner R. A central role for the nuclear factor-kappaB pathway in antiinflammatory and proinflammatory actions of mechanical strain. *FASEB J.* 2003;17:899-901.
- Long P, Hu J, Piesco N, Buckley M, Agarwal S. Low magnitude of tensile strain inhibits IL-1beta-dependent induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and induces synthesis of IL-10 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. J Dent Res. 2001;80:1416-1420.
- Long P, Liu F, Piesco NP, Kapur R, Agarwal S. Signaling by mechanical strain involves transcriptional regulation of proinflammatory genes in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *Bone*. 2002;30:547-552.
- Lu Y, Zheng Q, Lu W, et al. Compressive mechanical stress may activate IKK-NF-kappaB through proinflammatory cytokines in MC3T3-E1 cells. *Biotechnol Lett*. 2015;37:1729-1735.
- Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Shimizu Y, Mitani H. Periodontal ligament cells under mechanical stress induce osteoclastogenesis by receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand up-regulation via prostaglandin E2 synthesis. J Bone Miner Res. 2002;17:210-220.
- 6. Bletsa A, Berggreen E, Brudvik P. Interleukin-1alpha and tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression during the early phases of orthodontic tooth movement in rats. *Eur J Oral Sci.* 2006;114:423-429.
- Jäger A, Radlanski RJ, Götz W. Demonstration of cells of the mononuclear phagocyte lineage in the periodontium following experimental tooth movement in the rat. An immunohistochemical study using monoclonal antibodies ED1 und ED2 on paraffin-embedded tissues. *Histochemistry* 1993;100:161-166.
- Kim YS, Lee YM, Park JS, Lee SK, Kim EC. SIRT1 modulates highmobility group box 1-induced osteoclastogenic cytokines in human periodontal ligament cells. J Cell Biochem. 2010;111:1310-1320.
- 9. Wolf M, Lossdorfer S, Romer P, et al. Short-term heat pre-treatment modulates the release of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells following mechanical loading and affects monocyte behavior. *Clin Oral Investig.* 2016;20:923-931.
- Koide M, Kinugawa S, Takahashi N, Udagawa N. Osteoclastic bone resorption induced by innate immune responses. *Periodontol.* 2000;2010(54):235-246.
- Yamaguchi M, Aihara N, Kojima T, Kasai K. RANKL increase in compressed periodontal ligament cells from root resorption. *J Dent Res.* 2006;85:751-756.
- Collier NC, Schlesinger MJ. The dynamic state of heat shock proteins in chicken embryo fibroblasts. J Cell Biol. 1986;103:1495-1507.
- 13. Knowlton AA. The role of heat shock proteins in the heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1995;27:121-131.

14. Larson JS, Schuetz TJ, Kingston RE. In vitro activation of purified human heat shock factor by heat. *Biochemistry*. 1995;34:1902-1911.

PERIODONTAL RESEARCH -WILEY

- 15. Schlesinger MJ. Heat shock proteins: the search for functions. *J Cell Biol.* 1986;103:321-325.
- Wong HR, Ryan M, Menendez IY, Denenberg A, Wispe JR. Heat shock protein induction protects human respiratory epithelium against nitric oxide-mediated cytotoxicity. *Shock*. 1997;8:213-218.
- Wong HR, Ryan M, Wispe JR. The heat shock response inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression by blocking I kappa-B degradation and NF-kappa B nuclear translocation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1997;231:257-263.
- Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Arai K, et al. Local RANKL gene transfer to the periodontal tissue accelerates orthodontic tooth movement. *Gene Ther*. 2006;13:678-685.
- Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Sato A, et al. Cyclical tensile force on periodontal ligament cells inhibits osteoclastogenesis through OPG induction. J Dent Res. 2006;85:457-462.
- Nakao K, Goto T, Gunjigake KK, Konoo T, Kobayashi S, Yamaguchi K. Intermittent force induces high RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. J Dent Res. 2007;86:623-628.
- Pinkerton MN, Wescott DC, Gaffey BJ, Beggs KT, Milne TJ, Meikle MC. Cultured human periodontal ligament cells constitutively express multiple osteotropic cytokines and growth factors, several of which are responsive to mechanical deformation. *J Periodontal Res.* 2008;43:343-351.
- 22. Arai C, Nomura Y, Ishikawa M, et al. HSPA1A is upregulated in periodontal ligament at early stage of tooth movement in rats. *Histochem Cell Biol.* 2010;134:337-343.
- Kwon SM, Kim SA, Fujii S, Maeda H, Ahn SG, Yoon JH. Transforming growth factor beta1 promotes migration of human periodontal ligament cells through heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation. *Biol Pharm Bull*. 2011;34:486-489.
- Yoshimatsu M, Uehara M, Yoshida N. Expression of heat shock protein 47 in the periodontal ligament during orthodontic tooth movement. Arch Oral Biol. 2008;53:890-895.
- Schlecht R, Scholz SR, Dahmen H, et al. Functional analysis of Hsp70 inhibitors. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8:e78443.
- Lossdörfer S, Götz W, Jäger A. PTH(1-34)-induced changes in RANKL and OPG expression by human PDL cells modify osteoclast biology in a co-culture model with RAW 264.7 cells. *Clin Oral Investig* 2011;15:941-952.
- Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Küpper K, Jäger A. Regulation of high mobility group box protein 1 expression following mechanical loading by orthodontic forces in vitro and in vivo. Eur J Orthod. 2014;36:624-631.
- Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Römer P, Bastos Craveiro R, Deschner J, Jäger A. Anabolic properties of high mobility group box protein-1 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2014;2014:347585.
- Wen W, Liu W, Shao Y, Chen L. VER-155008, a small molecule inhibitor of HSP70 with potent anti-cancer activity on lung cancer cell lines. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2014;239:638-645.
- Kirschneck C, Batschkus S, Proff P, Kostler J, Spanier G, Schroder A. Valid gene expression normalization by RT-qPCR in studies on hPDL fibroblasts with focus on orthodontic tooth movement and periodontitis. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:14751.
- Mitsuhashi M, Yamaguchi M, Kojima T, Nakajima R, Kasai K. Effects of HSP70 on the compression force-induced TNF-alpha and RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. *Inflamm Res.* 2011;60:187-194.
- Romer P, Wolf M, Fanghanel J, Reicheneder C, Proff P. Cellular response to orthodontically-induced short-term hypoxia in dental pulp cells. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2014;355:173-180.
- Winning S, Splettstoesser F, Fandrey J, Frede S. Acute hypoxia induces HIF-independent monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells through increased intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression:

8 WILEY PERIODONTAL RESEARCH

the role of hypoxic inhibition of prolyl hydroxylase activity for the induction of NF-kappa B. *J Immunol.* 2010;185:1786-1793.

- Barka T, Anderson P. Histochemical methods for acid phosphatase using hexazonium as a coupler. J Histochem Cytochem. 1962;10:741-753.
- Biswas N, Friese RS, Gayen JR, Bandyopadhyay G, Mahata SK, O'Connor DT. Discovery of a novel target for the dysglycemic chromogranin A fragment pancreastatin: interaction with the chaperone GRP78 to influence metabolism. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9:e84132.
- Macias AT, Williamson DS, Allen N, et al. Adenosine-derived inhibitors of 78 kDa glucose regulated protein (Grp78) ATPase: insights into isoform selectivity. J Med Chem. 2011;54:4034-4041.
- Massey AJ, Williamson DS, Browne H, et al. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90 inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2010;66:535-545.
- Jaattela M. Over-expression of hsp70 confers tumorigenicity to mouse fibrosarcoma cells. *Int J Cancer*. 1995;60:689-693.
- Ravagnan L, Gurbuxani S, Susin SA, et al. Heat-shock protein 70 antagonizes apoptosis-inducing factor. Nat Cell Biol. 2001;3:839-843.
- Vargas-Roig LM, Fanelli MA, Lopez LA, et al. Heat shock proteins and cell proliferation in human breast cancer biopsy samples. *Cancer Detect Prev.* 1997;21:441-451.
- 41. Chatterjee M, Andrulis M, Stuhmer T, et al. The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway regulates the expression of Hsp70, which critically contributes to Hsp90-chaperone function and tumor cell survival in multiple myeloma. *Haematologica*. 2013;98:1132-1141.
- Nylandsted J, Rohde M, Brand K, Bastholm L, Elling F, Jaattela M. Selective depletion of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) activates a

tumor-specific death program that is independent of caspases and bypasses Bcl-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2000;97:7871-7876.

- 43. Fani S, Kamalidehghan B, Lo KM, et al. Anticancer activity of a monobenzyltin complex C1 against MDA-MB-231 cells through induction of Apoptosis and inhibition of breast cancer stem cells. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:38992.
- Schilling D, Garrido C, Combs S, Multhoff G. The Hsp70 inhibiting peptide aptamer A17 potentiates radiosensitization of tumor cells by Hsp90 inhibition. *Cancer Lett.* 2017;390:146-152.
- Luo X, Zuo X, Zhou Y, et al. Extracellular heat shock protein 70 inhibits tumour necrosis factor-alpha induced proinflammatory mediator production in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2008;10:R41.
- 46. Gu Y, Chen J, Wang T, Zhou C, Liu Z, Ma L. Hsp70 inducer, 17-allyla mino-demethoxygeldanamycin, provides neuroprotection via antiinflammatory effects in a rat model of traumatic brain injury. *Exp Ther Med.* 2016;12:3767-3772.

How to cite this article: Wolf M, Marciniak J, Lossdörfer S, Kirschneck C, Deschner J, Jäger A. Heat shock protein 70 dampens the inflammatory response of human PDL cells to mechanical loading in vitro. *J Periodont Res.* 2019;00:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12648

3.3 Study 3

Orthodontic cell stress modifies proinflammatory cytokine expression in human PDL cells and induces immunomodulatory effects via TLR-4 signaling in vitro

Jana Marciniak, Stefan Lossdörfer, Isabel Knaup, Asisa Bastian, Rogerio B. Craveiro, Andreas Jäger, Michael Wolf

> Clinical Oral Investigations 2020; 24(4): 1411-1419 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-03111-8 Impact factor²⁰¹⁹: 2.812

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Orthodontic cell stress modifies proinflammatory cytokine expression in human PDL cells and induces immunomodulatory effects via TLR-4 signaling in vitro

Jana Marciniak^{1,2} · Stefan Lossdörfer² · Isabel Knaup¹ · Asisa Bastian¹ · Rogerio B. Craveiro¹ · Andreas Jäger² · Michael Wolf¹

Received: 20 February 2019 / Accepted: 7 October 2019 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2019

Abstract

Objective Biomechanical orthodontics loading of the periodontium initiates a cascade of inflammatory signaling events that induce periodontal remodeling and finally facilitate orthodontic tooth movement. Pattern recognition receptors such as toll-like receptors (TLRs) have been well characterized for their ability to induce the activation of inflammatory, immunomodulatory cytokines. Here, we examined whether the cellular response of human periodontal ligament (hPDL) cells to mechanical stress involves TLR-4 signaling in vitro.

Materials and methods Confluent hPDL cells were cultured in the presence of 5 μ g/ml TLR-4 antibody (TLR-4ab) for 1 h prior to the induction of compressive forces by the use of round glass plates for 24 h. At harvest, interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 (IL-6, IL-8) mRNA and protein expression were analyzed by real-time PCR and ELISA. The immunomodulatory role of mechanical cell stress and TLR-4 signaling was addressed in co-culture experiments of hPDL and THP-1 cells targeting monocyte adhesion and by culturing osteoclastic precursors (RAW 264.7) in the presence of the conditioned medium of hPDL cells that had been mechanically loaded before.

Results Basal expression of IL-6 and IL-8 was not affected by TLR-4ab, but increased significantly upon mechanical loading of hPDL cells. When cells were mechanically stressed in the presence of TLR-4ab, the effect seen for loading alone was markedly reduced. Likewise, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were enhanced significantly by mechanical stress of hPDL cells and this effect was partially inhibited by TLR-4ab.

Conclusions The results of the present study indicate a proinflammatory and immunomodulatory influence of mechanical loading on hPDL cells. Intracellular signaling involves a TLR-4-dependent pathway.

Clinical relevance These findings hold out the prospect of interfering with the cellular response to mechanical cell stress in order to minimize undesired side effects of orthodontic tooth movement.

Keywords Mechanical loading \cdot hPDL cells \cdot TLR-4 signaling \cdot Interaction with immune cells

Jana Marciniak and Michael Wolf contributed equally to this work.

Michael Wolf michwolf@ukaachen.de

² Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Introduction

Biomechanical forces applied to the periodontal ligament (PDL) cause local ischemia followed by the initiation of a cascade of signaling events eventually triggering enhanced periodontal remodeling necessary for orthodontic tooth movement [1–4]. This cascade includes the release of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 (IL-6, IL-8) in PDL cells which in turn trigger a host immune response characterized by chemoattraction of immunecompetent cells to clear cellular debris and facilitate a re-

¹ Department of Orthodontics, Dental Clinic, University of Aachen, Pauwelsstr. 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany

establishment of the periodontal architecture in the initial phase and tooth movement in a later stage [5–7].

TLRs have been well characterized as type I integral membrane pattern recognition receptors [8] involved in the transduction of innate and adaptive host immune responses to microbial pathogens such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS). To date, ten different TLRs have been identified, each of which has a specific set of ligands to detect [9, 10]. TLRs have been demonstrated in periodontal tissues such as gingival fibroblasts and gingival epithelial cells [11, 12]. More recently, hPDL cells were reported to constitutively express TLR-2 and TLR-4 as well [9, 13, 14]. Specifically, TLR-4 has been shown to recognize the LPS of gram-negative bacteria [15]. The ligands identified so far that signal through TLRs are mainly exogenous stimuli.

Investigations on TLR-4 signaling revealed that adaptor proteins such as TRAF-6 link cell surface receptors to downstream kinase cascades, which results in the activation of key transcription factors for inflammatory gene expression. However, there are also reports of endogenous ligands and of intracellular engagement through which selected TLRs act [16]. Apart from pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), TLRs can sense ligands arising from tissue damage termed damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [16, 17]. Those DAMPs, as host-derived non-microbial stimulation, can be induced by mechanical loading of cells resulting in the release of endogenous TLR ligands such as high mobility group box protein-1 which in turn activate proinflammatory signaling and immune responses [17-19]. However, conflicting results have been obtained regarding the effect of mechanical cell stress on TLR expression in hPDL cells, depending on variables such as magnitude of force, time, and type of force (tensile versus compression, cyclic versus constant). For instance, Lee et al. [17] reported on a force- and time-dependent upregulation of TLR-2 and TLR-4 by cyclic mechanical stress, whereas the same parameters where found to be downregulated in the study by Nogueira and co-workers [20]. These data constraints underline the need for further investigation of the signaling molecules and signal transduction cascades involved in the mediation and transformation of mechanical cell stress into host immune responses. Since inflammatory immune responses are intended to protect the host from the sequelae of infection or mechanical challenge, but in the case of an exaggerated response may cause further tissue damage including tooth root resorption, loss of alveolar bone height, and gingival recessions, it is critical to maintain periodontal tissue homeostasis during orthodontic tooth movement. This aim requires a widening of the knowledge of the underlying regulatory mechanisms and, therefore, we set up the present study to address the role of mechanical loading and TLR-4 signaling in hPDL and immune cell interaction.

In this context and taking into account that recent studies showed mutually potentiating effects of orthodontic loading and periodontal inflammation during periodontitis on orthodontic tooth movement in a rat model [21–23], we propose that TLR4 signaling in hPDL cells is dependent not only on LPS-induced inflammation but could be also at least partially induced by mechanical stress, resulting in increased inflammatory signaling, enhanced monocyte migration, and osteoclastic differentiation. The hypotheses were tested in an in vitro model of static compressive force which mimics one leg of the in vivo system occurring during orthodontic treatment.

Materials and methods

All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the University of Bonn (reference number 029/08).

PDL cell culture

Fifth passage human PDL cells (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) were seeded in duplicate into 24-well plates (n = 6) in a density of 10,000 cells/well and cultured to confluence prior to further experimental stimulation. Cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 0.5% antibiotics (diluted from a stock solution containing 5000 U/ml penicillin and 5000 U/ml streptomycin; Biochrom AG, Germany) at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 100% humidity, 95% air, and 5% CO₂ [4, 24, 25]. Prior to experimental use, cells were characterized for their mesenchymal origin as described previously [24].

Mechanical stimulation and real-time PCR/ELISA

To determine the role of TLR-4 signaling in mechanical loading-induced cytokine mRNA expression, fifth passage hPDL cells were seeded in 6-well plates and cultured until confluence. Twenty-four hours prior to the onset of experimental stimulation, the culture medium was replaced by starvation medium containing only 0.1% FBS in DMEM. Thereafter, hPDL cells were exposed to 5 µg/ml TLR-4 monoclonal antibody (eBioscience Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) in 0.1% FBS DMEM for 1 h before round glass plates with a diameter of 3.4 cm and a weight of 18 g (University of Regensburg, Germany) were placed on confluent cells and served as compressive forces for 24 h. The concentration and time were based on previous similar experiments in literature [20, 26]. Exposure time was adopted from the protocol published by Kanzaki et al. [27] who reported on a significantly enhanced cytokine expression in response to the mechanical stimulus for 24 h, whereas shorter challenge of the cells resulted in less pronounced effects as opposed to cell damage seen with longer exposure or higher forces.

Force levels generated in this manner are considered comparable with applied protocols in clinical orthodontics. However, the exact magnitude of force in vivo which equals the experimental set up of the in vitro study cannot be given, since it depends on various variables of the recipient site, such as the number of tooth roots and root surface area. For illustration purposes of the experimental set up, please refer to Fig. 1.

At harvest, IL-6 and IL-8 cytokine mRNA expression was analyzed by real-time PCR as described previously [28]. The primer sequences were used and optimized in previous publications I [29, 30] as reported in Table 1.

At the translational level, commercially available enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits were used according to the manufacturer's instructions in order to quantify changes in IL-6 (SEH00560A) and IL-8 (SEH00568A) protein expression (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) in supernatants of hPDL cells that had been exposed to TLR-4 antibody and/or mechanical loading before.

THP1 cell adhesion assay

To examine the influence of TLR-4 in mediating hPDL cellinduced monocyte adhesion, CFSE-labeled THP1 cells (DSMZ GmbH, Germany) were co-cultured in 24-well plates with hPDL cells that had been mechanically stressed and exposed to TLR-4 antibody before. After 30 min of co-incubation, non-adherent THP1 cells were removed. Adherent THP1 cells were documented photographically using a fluorescence microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) and quantified using the



b

Effect of mechanical loading - TLR-4 expression -



Fig. 1 a Schematic illustration of the experimental setup for hPDL cell experiments. Compressive loading of hPDL cells was realized by 18-g glass disks according to the method described by Kanzaki et al. [27, 45] and compared with unstimulated cells which served as controls. **b**

Mechanical loading of hPDL cells significantly enhanced TLR-4 gene expression in hPDL cells after 24 h of compression. *P < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control

2 Springer

Table 1 cytosine	RT-qPCR gene, pr content; bp, base pa	rimer, and target/amplico airs	n information for the	2 investigated candidate re	ference genes. <i>Tm</i> , melting	g temperature o	of primer/specific qPC	CR product (amp	licon); %GC, guanine.
Gene symbol	Gene function	Accession number (NCBI GenBank)	Chromosomal location (length)	5'-forward primer-3' (length/Tm/%GC)	5'-reverse primer-3' (length/Tm/%GC)	Primer Ai location %	mplicon (length, GC, Tm, SSAT)	Intron- flanking (length)	Variants targeted (transcript/splice)
IL6	Proinflammatory cytokine	NM_000600.5	7p15.3 (1127 bp)	CAGGAGCCCA GCTATGAACT 20 hn/ 59 16 °C/ 55%)	AGCAGGCAAC ACCAGGAG (18 hn/50 57 °C/61 11%)	Exon 1/2 85	bp	Yes	No
IL8 CXCL8	Pro-inflammatory cytokine	NM_000584.4	4q13.3 (1642 bp)	AGACAGCAGA GCACACAAGC (20 bp/60.88 °C/55%)	ATGGTTCCTT CCGGTGGT (18 bp/58.08 °C/55.65%)	Exon 1 62	2 bp	No	Yes
ACTB	Cytoskeletal structural protein	NM_001101.3	7p22 (1852 bp)	CATGGATGATG ATATCGCCGCG (22 bp/61.92 °C/54.55%)	ACATGATCTGG GTCATCTTCTCG (23pb/59.93 °C/47.83%)	37	71 bp	I	I

Deringer

cell counter freeware ImageJ (National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA) [31].

Osteoclast differentiation assay

To elucidate the role of mechanical loading and TLR-4 signaling on the ability of hPDL cells to induce osteoclastic differentiation, mononuclear cells of the monocyte and macrophage lineage (RAW264.7 cells; CLS cell line services, Eppelheim, Germany) were seeded in 24-well-plates at a seeding density of 20,000 cells/well and cultured for 15 days in 50% regular RAW cell medium containing 20 ng/ml M-CSF (BioCat, Heidelberg, Germany) and 30 ng/ml RANKL (Axxora, Lörrach, Germany) and 50% conditioned medium of hPDL cells that had been pre-treated with TLR-4 antibody and mechanical loading for 24 h as described above. Medium was changed every 3 days until termination of the experiment. At harvest, TRAP staining was performed to visualize osteoclast differentiation (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany). To quantify the number of TRAP-positive multinucleated cells, wells were photographed microscopically and analyzed by the help of Axiovision software (Zeiss, Jena, Germany). Four images were captured per specimen at ×100 magnification and the TRAP-positive area was quantified as a function of the total area.

Statistical analysis

Mean \pm standard deviation (SD) are shown in graphs. All data are obtained from two independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using a Mann-Whitney *U* Test (Prism version 6.01; GraphPad Software), where *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Basal expression of TLR-4 mRNA was demonstrated and further enhanced by mechanical compression of hPDL cells (Fig. 1b). The addition of 5 μ g/ml TLR-4 antibody to hPDL cell cultures for 24 h did not alter the intensity of IL-6 or IL-8 significantly at the transcriptional as well as at the translational level by real-time PCR analysis and protein quantification by ELISA (Figs. 2a, b, 3a, b). When confluent hPDL cells were compressed for 24 h, IL-6 levels increased ~ 8-fold, both at the mRNA and protein levels (Fig. 2a, b). Similar observations were made for IL-8, although even more pronounced in magnitude (~ 36-fold at the transcriptional level and ~ 12-fold regarding protein production) (Fig. 3a, b). The addition of TLR-4 antibody to the medium resulted in a significant reduction of the effects seen for mechanical stimulation alone, both for IL-6 and IL-8 (Figs. 2, 3).



Fig. 2 Influence of mechanical loading on the release of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 by hPDL cells. Mechanical loading of hPDL cells resulted in a significant increase of IL-6 mRNA expression (a) and protein production (b). Inhibition of TLR-4 reduced the increase seen for mechanical cell stress alone. Application of the TLR-4ab alone did affect IL-6 expression, neither at the transcriptional nor at the translational level. Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 2 independent experiments in triplicate. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control and TLR-4ab alone, respectively; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs. mechanical loading alone

Likewise cytokine expression, the ability of hPDL cells to interact with immune cells was also affected by mechanical cell stress. Co-culture of THP1 cells with hPDL cells that had been exposed to compressive forces before resulted in a significantly higher monocyte adhesion rate compared with cocultures of THP1 cells and non-stressed hPDL cells (~ 3-fold). When TLR-4 was inhibited during mechanical stimulation of hPDL cells, monocyte adhesion was markedly reduced compared with mechanical stimulation alone, but still remained significantly enhanced in comparison with non-stressed hPDL cells (Fig. 4a, b). Similar results were obtained for hPDL cells' ability to stimulate the differentiation of mononuclear cells along the osteoclastic pathway. The TLR-4



Fig. 3 Effect of mechanical loading on interleukin-8 expression by hPDL cells. When hPDL cells were compressed, both IL-8 mRNA expression (**a**) and protein production (**b**) increased, and this effect was partially mediated by TLR-4 as evidenced by an inhibitory effect of TLR-4ab. Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 2 independent experiments in triplicate. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control and TLR-4ab alone; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs. mechanical loading alone

inhibitor alone had no effect under control conditions, whereas it was capable of reducing the increase in the number of TRAP-positive cells induced by mechanical loading of hPDL cells significantly (Fig. 5a, b).

Discussion

The results of the present study revealed a proinflammatory influence of compressive loading of hPDL cells as evidenced by increased IL-6 and IL-8 production. Likewise, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were enhanced and the mediation of those effects involved TLR-4 signaling.

Clin Oral Invest



Fig. 4 Mechanical loading–induced enhancement of monocyte adhesion is partially mediated by TLR-4 signaling. TLR-4 inhibition during mechanical cell stress led to a significant reduction in the number of adherent monocytes. The visual impression (a) was confirmed by quantitative analysis (b). Each value represents the mean \pm SD for 2 independent experiments in triplicate. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control and TLR-4a balone; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs. mechanical loading alone

TLRs have been shown to have an affinity for molecules associated with infection and tissue injury [17] and, in particular, the involvement of TLR-4 in the mediation of microbial pathogen- or mechanical load-induced signaling is well established [15–17]. Here, in a first step, we examined its role in hPDL cells under unstimulated conditions by adding only the TLR-4ab to the cultures and did not observe a significant effect on any of the parameters tested. These findings strengthen the view of TLR-4 as a receptor for exogenous stimuli and, at the same time, indicate that it is not involved in the regulation

mechanically loaded hPDL cells stimulated the differentiation of mononuclear RAW264.7 cells along the osteoclastic pathway. The number of TRAP-positive cells approximately doubled, when the mechanical loading protocol was applied. The addition of TLR-4 antibody to the cell culture medium inhibited osteoclastic differentiation significantly. The visual impression (**a**) was confirmed by quantitative analysis (**b**). Each value represents the mean ± SD for 2 independent experiments in triplicate. **P* < 0.05, experimental group vs. vehicle-treated control and TLR-4ab alone; #*P* < 0.05, combined treatment regimen vs. mechanical loading alone

of cytokine expression and osteoclastic differentiation under physiological conditions.

Regarding mechanical cell stress, static compressive force, as exerted by one-time application in this study, is thought to mimic one part of the in vivo system occurring during orthodontic treatment. Although repeated stimulation can be used to produce cyclic stress, the present method was chosen to simplify the experimental model and focus on one arm of the effects to be expected clinically.

It remains controversial how such a stimulus affects the expression of TLR-4. Noguera et al. [20] reported on a

Clin Oral Invest

significant time- and force magnitude-dependent inhibition of TLR-4 expression after 3 days of biomechanical strain. In contrast, the data of Lee and co-workers [17] point to an increase of TLR-2 and TLR-4 expression in PDL cells following cyclic strain. Our own measurements on this issue demonstrate the basal expression of TLR-4 in hPDL cells, which is in line with the literature [9, 14], and indicate a stimulatory effect of mechanical compression of hPDL cells. As already concluded by Hatakeyama [13], it seems possible that there is a broad variation in the response of cells to TLR-4 ligands depending on the type of stimulus. It remains to be elucidated for PDL cells in how far toll-like receptor density and affinity are regulated by the type of stimulus (e.g., mechanical versus bacterial), and, regarding mechanical challenge, what difference tensile vs. compressive, intermittent vs. continuous, and high vs. low forces make for TLR expression. Along these lines, it is not clear whether hPDL cells, which are exposed to a certain stimulus repeatedly, develop characteristics of tolerized cells which might include an altered expression of TLRs. In other cell systems, it has been described that tolerized cells recruit less MyD88 to the TLR-4 receptor, diminishing MyD88/IRAK activation [32-34]. As a consequence e.g. NF-kB activity was shown to be lower in endotoxin-tolerant cells [35].

It is well known from in vitro and clinical studies that biomechanical loading can induce the synthesis of proinflammatory mediators and proteases, thereby acting as proinflammatory and catabolic signals [20, 36, 37]. Our findings of enhanced IL-6 and IL-8 production at the mRNA and protein levels in response to compression are in line with those reports and strengthen the view of IL-6 as a major component of the host response to tissue injury. To ensure the rise of mRNA cytokine expression, all experiments were ensured by confirmation on the protein level. Down the line, IL-6 can activate osteoclasts and eventually cause bone resorption [9], as corroborated by our observation of enhanced osteoclastic differentiation in response to mechanical cell stress. This is in accordance with other reports on mechanical loading being capable of stimulating osteoclastogenesis and alveolar bone destruction [38]. On the other hand, according to Nogueira et al. [20], biomechanical loading decreased time- and magnitude-dependent expression of TLR-4 suggesting anti-inflammatory effects. Apparently, the interaction between intracellular signaling molecules and the signal transition cascades can differ according to the origin of the cells and the conditions of the stresses exposed [39-41].

Together with increased IL-8 facilitating the chemoattraction of neutrophil granulocytes to the injured site, enhanced monocyte adhesion in response to compressive forces observed in the present study suggests both cytokines serving as a link between innate and specific immune mechanisms [9].

Our results confirm that TLR-4ab could, at least in part, inhibit mechanical cell stress-induced IL-6 and IL-8 production and, therefore, suggest TLR-4 as a key molecule controlling the

production of both cytokines. Although not investigated specifically here, most likely TLR-4 signaling involves the activation of MAPK and NF- κ B, since the MAPK are the most important kinases in mechanotransduction [39] and many studies have suggested the rapid and transient activation of NF-kB in PDL cells and in other cells exposed to mechanical stimuli [42–44].

In summary, our findings indicate a proinflammatory and immune cell-activating effect of mechanical compression of hPDL cells and the intracellular signaling of this stimulus seems to involve TLR-4. Although undoubtedly osteoclastic resorption is necessary for orthodontic tooth movement, an appropriate activation of TLRs is vital for eradicating invading pathogens or for a well-balanced response to orthodontic loading without harmful damage to the host [10]. Further research is necessary to distinguish cellular response depending on the type of mechanical stimulus and to investigate whether an enhanced secretion of proinflammatory cytokines could be repressed by TLR-4ab in vivo to limit excessive host response to bacterial infection or orthodontic loading.

Acknowledgments We thank the medical faculties of the University of Bonn and University of Aachen (both Germany) for their support of this research.

Funding information The work was supported by the University of Aachen, Department of Orthodontics, and University of Bonn, Department of Orthodontics.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors. All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the University of Bonn (reference number 029/08).

Informed consent For this type of study, formal consent is not required.

References

- Nakao K, Goto T, Gunjigake KK, Konoo T, Kobayashi S, Yamaguchi K (2007) Intermittent force induces high RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. J Dent Res 86:623– 628
- Pinkerton MN, Wescott DC, Gaffey BJ, Beggs KT, Milne TJ, Meikle MC (2008) Cultured human periodontal ligament cells constitutively express multiple osteotropic cytokines and growth factors, several of which are responsive to mechanical deformation. J Periodontal Res 43:343–351
- Wolf M, Lossdorfer S, Craveiro R et al (2014) High-mobility group box protein-1 released by human-periodontal ligament cells modulates macrophage migration and activity in vitro. Innate Immun 20: 688–696
- 4. Wolf M, Lossdorfer S, Kupper K, Jager A (2014) Regulation of high mobility group box protein 1 expression following mechanical

loading by orthodontic forces in vitro and in vivo. Eur J Orthod 36: 624-631

- Jäger A, Radlanski RJ, Götz W (1993) Demonstration of cells of the mononuclear phagocyte lineage in the periodontium following experimental tooth movement in the rat. An immunohistochemical study using monoclonal antibodies ED1 und ED2 on paraffinembedded tissues. Histochemistry 100:161–166
- Kim YS, Lee YM, Park JS et al (2010) SIRT1 modulates highmobility group box 1-induced osteoclastogenic cytokines in human periodontal ligament cells. J Cell Biochem 111:1310–1320
- Wolf M, Lossdorfer S, Romer P et al (2016) Short-term heat pretreatment modulates the release of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells following mechanical loading and affects monocyte behavior. Clin Oral Investig 20:923–931
- Medzhitov R (2007) Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. Nature 449:819–826
- Sun Y, Shu R, Zhang MZ et al (2008) Toll-like receptor 4 signaling plays a role in triggering periodontal infection. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 52:362–369
- Takeuchi O, Akira S (2010) Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell 140:805–820
- Wang PL, Ohura K, Fujii T, Oido-Mori M, Kowashi Y, Kikuchi M, Suetsugu Y, Tanaka J (2003) DNA microarray analysis of human gingival fibroblasts from healthy and inflammatory gingival tissues. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 305:970–973
- Kinane DF, Shiba H, Stathopoulou PG, Zhao H, Lappin DF, Singh A, Eskan MA, Beckers S, Waigel S, Alpert B, Knudsen TB (2006) Gingival epithelial cells heterozygous for toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms Asp299Gly and Thr399ile are hypo-responsive to Porphyromonas gingivalis. Genes Immun 7:190–200
- Hatakeyama J, Tamai R, Sugiyama A et al (2003) Contrasting responses of human gingival and periodontal ligament fibroblasts to bacterial cell-surface components through the CD14/toll-like receptor system. Oral Microbiol Immunol 18:14–23
- Tang L, Zhou XD, Wang Q, Zhang L, Wang Y, Li XY, Huang DM (2011) Expression of TRAF6 and pro-inflammatory cytokines through activation of TLR2, TLR4, NOD1, and NOD2 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. Arch Oral Biol 56:1064–1072
- Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kawai T et al (1999) Cutting edge: toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J Immunol 162:3749–3752
- Gordon S (2002) Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. Cell 111:927–930
- Lee SI, Park KH, Kim SJ, Kang YG, Lee YM, Kim EC (2012) Mechanical stress-activated immune response genes via Sirtuin 1 expression in human periodontal ligament cells. Clin Exp Immunol 168:113–124
- Yamaba S, Yamada S, Kajikawa T, Awata T, Sakashita H, Tsushima K, Fujihara C, Yanagita M, Murakami S (2015) PLAP-1/Asporin regulates TLR2- and TLR4-induced inflammatory responses. J Dent Res 94:1706–1714
- 19. Chen GY, Nunez G (2010) Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol 10:826–837
- Nogueira AV, Nokhbehsaim M, Eick S, Bourauel C, Jäger A, Jepsen S, Cirelli JA, Deschner J (2014) Regulation of visfatin by microbial and biomechanical signals in PDL cells. Clin Oral Investig 18:171–178
- Boas Nogueira AV, Chaves de Souza JA, Kim YJ, Damião de Sousa-Neto M, Chan Cirelli C, Cirelli JA (2013) Orthodontic force increases interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression and alveolar bone loss in periodontitis. J Periodontol 84:1319– 1326
- 22. Kirschneck C, Maurer M, Wolf M, Reicheneder C, Proff P (2017) Regular nicotine intake increased tooth movement velocity,

osteoclastogenesis and orthodontically induced dental root resorptions in a rat model. Int J Oral Sci 9:174–184

- Kirschneck C, Fanghanel J, Wahlmann U et al (2017) Interactive effects of periodontitis and orthodontic tooth movement on dental root resorption, tooth movement velocity and alveolar bone loss in a rat model. Ann Anat 210:32–43
- Lossdörfer S, Götz W, Jäger A (2011) PTH(1-34)-induced changes in RANKL and OPG expression by human PDL cells modify osteoclast biology in a co-culture model with RAW 264.7 cells. Clin Oral Investig 15:941–952
- Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Römer P et al (2014) Anabolic properties of high mobility group box protein-1 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. Mediat Inflamm 2014:347585
- 26. Samelko L, Landgraeber S, McAllister K et al (2016) Cobalt alloy implant debris induces inflammation and bone loss primarily through danger signaling, not TLR4 activation: implications for DAMP-ening implant related inflammation. PLoS One 11: e0160141
- Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Shimizu Y, Mitani H (2002) Periodontal ligament cells under mechanical stress induce osteoclastogenesis by receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand upregulation via prostaglandin E2 synthesis. J Bone Miner Res 17: 210–220
- Konermann A, Stabenow D, Knolle PA, Held SA, Deschner J, Jäger A (2012) Regulatory role of periodontal ligament fibroblasts for innate immune cell function and differentiation. Innate Immun 18:745–752
- Romer P, Wolf M, Fanghanel J et al (2014) Cellular response to orthodontically-induced short-term hypoxia in dental pulp cells. Cell Tissue Res 355:173–180
- Kraus D, Deschner J, Jager A et al (2012) Human beta-defensins differently affect proliferation, differentiation, and mineralization of osteoblast-like MG63 cells. J Cell Physiol 227:994–1003
- 31. Winning S, Splettstoesser F, Fandrey J et al (2010) Acute hypoxia induces HIF-independent monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells through increased intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression: the role of hypoxic inhibition of prolyl hydroxylase activity for the induction of NF-kappa B. J Immunol 185:1786–1793
- Biswas SK, Tergaonkar V (2007) Myeloid differentiation factor 88independent toll-like receptor pathway: sustaining inflammation or promoting tolerance? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:1582–1592
- Medvedev AE, Lentschat A, Wahl LM et al (2002) Dysregulation of LPS-induced toll-like receptor 4-MyD88 complex formation and IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 activation in endotoxin-tolerant cells. J Immunol 169:5209–5216
- Piao W, Song C, Chen H, Wahl LM, Fitzgerald KA, O'Neill LA, Medvedev AE (2008) Tyrosine phosphorylation of MyD88 adapter-like (Mal) is critical for signal transduction and blocked in endotoxin tolerance. J Biol Chem 283:3109–3119
- Brown J, Wang H, Hajishengallis GN, Martin M (2011) TLRsignaling networks: an integration of adaptor molecules, kinases, and cross-talk. J Dent Res 90:417–427
- Bildt MM, Bloemen M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM et al (2009) Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement. Eur J Orthod 31:529–535
- Ren Y, Vissink A (2008) Cytokines in crevicular fluid and orthodontic tooth movement. Eur J Oral Sci 116:89–97
- Goto KT, Kajiya H, Nemoto T, Tsutsumi T, Tsuzuki T, Sato H, Okabe K (2011) Hyperocclusion stimulates osteoclastogenesis via CCL2 expression. J Dent Res 90:793–798
- Kook SH, Jang YS (1985) Lee JC (2011) involvement of JNK-AP-1 and ERK-NF-kappaB signaling in tension-stimulated expression of type I collagen and MMP-1 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. J Appl Physiol 111:1575–1583

Clin Oral Invest

- Liedert A, Kaspar D, Blakytny R, Claes L, Ignatius A (2006) Signal transduction pathways involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 349:1–5
- Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ (1996) Transcription factor AP-1 regulation by mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways. J Mol Med (Berl) 74:589–607
- 42. Inoh H, Ishiguro N, Sawazaki S, Amma H, Miyazu M, Iwata H, Sokabe M, Naruse K (2002) Uni-axial cyclic stretch induces the activation of transcription factor nuclear factor kappaB in human fibroblast cells. FASEB J 16:405–407
- Liu J, Zou L, Zheng Y, Zhao Z, Li Y, Yang P, Luo S (2007) NFkappaB responds to mechanical strains in osteoblast-like cells, and lighter strains create an NF-kappaB response more readily. Cell Biol Int 31:1220–1224
- Ning Q, Wang X (2007) Role of Rel A and IkappaB of nuclear factor kappaB in the release of interleukin-8 by cyclic mechanical strain in human alveolar type II epithelial cells A549. Respirology 12:792–798
- 45. Kirschneck C, Batschkus S, Proff P et al (2017) Valid gene expression normalization by RT-qPCR in studies on hPDL fibroblasts with focus on orthodontic tooth movement and periodontitis. Sci Rep 7:14751

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

4. Discussion with References

4.1 Discussion

Results of the present dissertation reveal that HSP70 regulates crucial cell functions such as proliferation and cell viability under physiological conditions. During the reaction of hPDL cells following mechanical compression both TLR-4 receptor and HSP70 protein apparently exhibit essential functions.

The experiments applying hPDL cell stimulation with biomechanical loading revealed an increase in the synthesis and production at mRNA and protein levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 that was already confirmed by other *in vitro* and clinical studies. IL-6 was demonstrated to act as a major component of the host response to tissue injury (Nogueira et al., 2014; Bildt et al., 2009; Ren and Vissink, 2008). Chemoattraction of immunocytes by cytokines followed by osteoclastic activation in response to mechanical cell stress are important for alveolar bone breakdown in the course of orthodontic tooth movement. In our experiments, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were enhanced upon stimulation with mechanical compression. As these outcomes are facilitated by IL-8 and IL-6, respectively, both cytokines are suggested to serve as links between innate and specific immune mechanisms as it was confirmed by previous studies (Goto et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2008).

Decreased IL-6 and IL-8 expression, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were the effects of experimental use of a TLR-4 neutralizing antibody in combination with mechanical stimulation of hPDL cells in comparison to stimulation with mechanical loading alone, indicating the antibody to inhibit cytokine synthesis induced by mechanical cell stress. Thus, TLR-4 is suggested to be a key molecule controlling the production of both cytokines and hence to influence the increase of subsequent monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation. Basal expression of the TLR-4 receptor in hPDL cells without stimulation with mechanical compression is confirmed by literature (Sun et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2011). Furthermore no significant changes were observed in cytokine production, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation and osteoclastic differentiation and osteoclastic differentiation with or without stimulation with the TLR-4 neutralizing antibody in the absence of mechanical compression, indicating that the receptor mediated signaling is not relevant basally. Instead, TLR-4

signaling was established to be induced by microbial pathogens or mechanical loading according to literature (Hoshino et al., 1999; Gordon et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2012).

In the experiments for this study, mechanical cell stress was exerted by means of static compressive force in order to mimic orthodontic treatment *in vivo*. Previous studies revealed controversial results about TLR-4 expression of PDL cells after *in vivo* strain application (Lee et al., 2012; Nogueira et al., 2014). The differences of outcomes appear to originate from a broad variation in cell response to TLR-4 ligands depending on different stimulus types, magnitudes and stimulation periods (Hatakeyama et al., 2003; Nogueira et al., 2014). Interaction between intracellular signaling molecules and signal transition cascades might differ according to the origin of cells and conditions of the stresses exposed (Kook and Jang, 2011; Liedert et al., 2006; Whitmarsh and Davis, 1996).

MAPK are the most important kinases in mechanotransduction (Kook and Jang, 2011). Rapid and transient activation of NF-kB in hPDL cells and other cell types exposed to mechanical stimuli were suggested by many studies (Inoh et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2007; Ning et al., 2007). Hence, TLR-4 signaling as a consequence of mechanical compression most likely involves NF-KB activation via MAPK and other signaling cascades (Jönsson et al., 2010). NF-κB is activated before cytoplasmic translocation into the nucleus where it induces upregulation of cytokine expression among other molecules and factors. For minimizing the inflammation reaction mediated by compressive forces, increased HSP70 protein activation and blocking TLR-4 signaling via neutralizing antibodies were shown to be promising approaches. HSP70 was demonstrated to both prevent NF-kB activation and to block HMGB1 from leaving the nucleus and hence from acting as an alarmin in the extracellular space via TLR-4 signaling during mechanical compression mediated by orthodontic tooth movement. Heat pre-treatment of hPDL cells prior to mechanical loading markedly increased HSP70 expression and stimulated retention of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-8 and HMGB1. These results further indicate a cytoprotective role of HSP70 during mechanical cell stress (Wolf et al., 2016). Increased HSP70 abundance resulted in suppressed cytokine production by the inhibition of MAPK activation and NF-KB signaling in vitro and in vivo according to observations in different studies (Luo et al., 2008; Gu et al., 2016). Thus, the importance and function of HSP70 was examined in this study in hPDL cells after mechanical compression by the help of application of a pharmaceutically used inhibitor for HSP70.

Cell morphology and HSP70 expression did not change upon treatment of the cells with VER155008 acting as a competitive inhibitor for the HSP70 ATPase binding domain by specific interaction, thus inhibiting the activity of the protein as it was demonstrated by Real-time PCR and Western blot data for other cell systems (Wen et al., 2014). Upon HSP70 inhibition, important hPDL physiological functions such as proliferation, colony formation and wound healing were significantly reduced whereas cell death parameters such as necrosis and apoptosis were increased. Likewise, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were enhanced. Furthermore, enhancement of cell death parameters, inflammatory cytokine expression, monocyte adhesion and osteoclastic differentiation were even more increased after stimulation with mechanical loading combined with the HSP70 inhibitor in comparison to mechanical compression alone. The observed effects might result from the inhibition of glucose-related protein 78 that is another chaperone of the HSP family involved in the process of protein folding and glucose metabolism, which is also targeted by VER155008. Nevertheless, this agent is well-established in HSP70 research and its suitability for inactivating HSP70 (Macias et al., 2011; Biswas et al., 2014; Boroughs et al., 2011).

Decreased cell proliferation, colony formation and wound healing were confirmed by further studies of Wen et al. (2014), Massey et al. (2010) and Boroughs et al. (2011) who observed decreased cell proliferation being the consequence of cell cycle progression inhibition by VER155008. Thus, the importance of cellular interconnectivity and communication controlled by HSP70 for the reestablishment of the physiological periodontal architecture becomes obvious. As cancer cells of different origins were used in these studies, HSP70 possibly has a pro-proliferative effect on both malignantly transformed cells and normal cells, underlining the importance of hPDL cells in periodontal tissue remodeling and regeneration (Wen et al., 2014; Massey et al., 2010; Boroughs et al., 2011).

Differences were observed concerning the characteristics of cancer cells and healthy tissue or normal cells *in vitro*. Cancer cells needed higher concentrations of the pharmaceutical agent VER155008 for significant HSP70 inhibition, suggesting a higher sensitivity of non-transformed cells to HSP70 inhibition that might originate from overexpression of HSP70 in a wide range of tumors (Jaattela, 1995; Vargas-Roig et al., 1997; Ravagnan et al., 2001). HSP70 inhibition affected non-cancer cells minimally, but apoptosis was induced selectively on different cancer cell lines (Massey et al., 2010; Chatterjee et al., 2013; Nylandsted et al., 2000; Frese et al., 2003). Additionally, increased tumor cell sensitivity to apoptosis induced by certain anticancer drugs or radiation was observed (Fani et al., 2016; Schilling et al., 2017). As both apoptosis and necrosis are induced by HSP70 inhibition in hPDL cells, the periodontal system of patients receiving HSP70 targeting pharmaceutics may potentially be harmed due to the increased sensitivity of the non-tumorous hPDL cells to HSP70 inhibition, especially when patients receive orthodontic tooth movement.

4.2 Conclusions

The outcomes of this study expand current knowledge of periodontal remodeling regulation with regard to HSP70 protein and TLR-4 receptor function under physiological conditions and mechanical compression in vitro simulating orthodontic tooth movement in *vivo*. In hPDL cells, HSP70 did exhibit a pro-proliferative function during physiological conditions while the protein's cytoprotective function was demonstrated both under physiological conditions and following mechanical compression. Additionally, both inflammation reaction and host immune response were reduced by HSP70 activity and they were observed to be mediated by TLR-4 signaling. The receptor was already basally expressed under physiological conditions. Both proteins were therefore identified as promising targets for further intervention strategies such as therapy of periodontal inflammatory disease or assistance at minimizing adverse side effects of orthodontic tooth movement by controlling and limiting tissue damage extent. Appropriate activation of TLRs has to be considered as TLR-4 signaling is essential for eradicating invading pathogens and for a well-balanced response to orthodontic loading. Further research is necessary to investigate the therapeutical repression of proinflammatory cytokines by TLR-4 antibodies in order to limit excessive host response to bacterial infection or orthodontic loading by means of *in vivo* experiments.

Further research on hPDL cell response depending on and following different mechanical stimulus types should be performed considering additional inflammatory pathways to further enhance our knowledge about the biological processes being involved in orthodontic tooth movement.

4.3 References

Bildt MM, Bloemen M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Von den Hoff JW. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement. Eur J Orthod 2009; 31: 529-535

Biswas N, Friese RS, Gayen JR, Bandyopadhyay G, Mahata SK, O'Connor DT. Discovery of a novel target for the dysglycemic chromogranin A fragment pancreastatin: interaction with the chaperone GRP78 to influence metabolism. PLoS One 2014; 9: e84132

Boroughs LK, Antonyak MA, Johnson JL, Cerione RA. A unique role for heat shock protein 70 and its binding partner tissue transglutaminase in cancer cell migration. J Biol Chem 2011; 286: 37094-37107

Chatterjee M, Andrulis M, Stuhmer T, Muller E, Hofmann C, Steinbrunn T, Heimberger T, Schraud H, Kressmann S, Einsele H, Bargou RC. ThePI3K/Akt signaling pathway regulates the expression of Hsp70, which critically contributes to Hsp90-chaperone function and tumor cell survival in multiple myeloma. Haematologica 2013; 98: 1132–1141

Fani S, Kamalidehghan B, Lo KM, Nigjeh SE, Keong YS, Dehghan F, Soori R, Abdulla MA, Chow KM, Ali HM, Hajiaghaalipour F, Rouhollahi E, Hashim NM. Anticancer activity of a monobenzyltin complex C1 against MDA-MB-231 cells through induction of Apoptosis and inhibition of breast cancer stem cells. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 38992

Frese S, Schaper M, Kuster JR, Miescher D, Jaattela M, Buehler T, Schmid RA. Cell death induced by down-regulation of heat shock protein 70 in lung cancer cell lines is p53-independent and does not require DNA cleavage. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 126: 748-754

Gordon S. Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. Cell 2002; 111: 927-930

Goto KT, Kajiya H, Nemoto T, Tsutsumi T, Tsuzuki T, Sato H, Okabe K. Hyperocclusion stimulates osteoclastogenesis via CCL2 expression. J Dent Res 2011; 90: 793-798

Gu Y, Chen J, Wang T, Zhou C, Liu Z, Ma L. Hsp70 inducer, 17-allylaminodemethoxygeldanamycin, provides neuroprotection via anti-inflammatory effects in a rat model of traumatic brain injury. Exp Ther Med 2016; 12: 3767-3772 Hatakeyama J, Tamai R, Sugiyama A, Akashi S, Sugawara S, Takada H. Contrasting responses of human gingival and periodontal ligament fibroblasts to bacterial cell-surface components through the CD14/toll-like receptor system. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003; 18: 14-23

Hoshino K, Takeuchi O,Kawai T, Sanjo H, Ogawa T, Takeda Y, Takeda K, Akira S. Cutting edge: toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J Immunol 1999; 162: 3749-3752

Inoh H, Ishiguro N, Sawazaki S, Amma H, Miyazu M, Iwata H, Sokabe M, Naruse K. Uni-axial cyclic stretch induces the activation of transcription factor nuclear factor kappaB in human fibroblast cells. FASEB J 2002; 16:405-407

Jaattela M. Over-expression of hsp70 confers tumorigenicity to mouse fibrosarcoma cells. Int J Cancer 1995; 60: 689-693

Jönsson D, Nebel D, Bratthall G, Nilsson BO. The human periodontal ligament cell: a fibroblast-like cell acting as an immune cell. J Periodont Res 2011; 46: 153-157

Kook SH, Jang YS (1985) Lee JC. Involvement of JNK-AP-1 and ERK-NF-kappaB signaling in tension-stimulated expression of type I collagen and MMP-1 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. J Appl Physiol 2011; 111: 1575-1583

Lee SI, Park KH, Kim SJ, Kang YG, Lee YM, Kim EC. Mechanical stress-activated immune response genes via Sirtuin 1 expression in human periodontal ligament cells. Clin Exp Immunol 2012; 168: 113-124

Liedert A, Kaspar D, Blakytny R, Claes L, Ignatius A. Signal transduction pathways involved in mechanotransduction in bone cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 349: 1-5

Liu J, Zou L, Zheng Y, Zhao Z, Li Y, Yang P, Luo S. NFkappaB responds to mechanical strains in osteoblast-like cells, and lighter strains create an NF-kappaB response more readily. Cell Biol Int 2007; 31: 1220-1224

Luo X, Zuo X, Zhou Y, Zhang B, Shi Y, Liu M, Wang K, McMillian DR, Xiao X. Extracellular heat shock protein 70 inhibits tumour necrosis factor-alpha induced proinflammatory mediator production in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Arthritis Res Ther. 2008;10:R41 Macias AT, Williamson DS, Allen N, Borgognoni J, Clay A, Daniels Z, Dokurno P, Drysdale MJ, Francis GL, Graham CJ, Howes R, Matassova N, Murray JB, Parsons R, Shaw T, Surgenor AE, Terry L, Wang Y, Wood M, Massey AJ. Adenosine-derived inhibitors of 78 kDa glucose regulated protein (Grp78)ATPase: insights into isoform selectivity. J Med Chem 2011; 54: 4034-4041

Massey AJ, Williamson DS, Browne H, Murray JB, Dokurno P, Shaw T, Macias AT, Daniels Z, Geoffroy S, Dopson M, Lavan P, Matassova N, Francis GL, Graham CJ, Parsons R, Wang Y, Padfield A, Comer M, Drysdale MJ, Wood M. A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2010; 66: 535-545

Ning Q, Wang X. Role of Rel A and IkappaB of nuclear factor kappaB in the release of interleukin-8 by cyclic mechanical strain in human alveolar type II epithelial cells A549. Respirology 2007; 12: 792-798

Nogueira AV, Nokhbehsaim M, Eick S, Bourauel C, Jäger A, Jepsen S, Cirelli JA, Deschner J. Regulation of visfatin by microbial and biomechanical signals in PDL cells. Clin Oral Investig 2014; 18:171-178

Nylandsted J, Rohde M, Brand K, Bastholm L, Elling F, Jaattela M. Selective depletion of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) activates a tumor-specific death program that is independent of caspases and bypasses Bcl-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 7871-7876

Ravagnan L, Gurbuxani S, Susin SA, Maisse C, Daugas E, Zamzami N, Mak T, ,Jaattela M, Penninger JM, Garrido C, Kroemer G. Heat-shock protein70 antagonizes apoptosisinducing factor. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3: 839-843

Ren Y, Vissink A. Cytokines in crevicular fluid and orthodontic tooth movement. Eur J Oral Sci 2008; 116: 89-97

Schilling D, Garrido C, Combs S, Multhoff G. The Hsp70 inhibiting peptideaptamer A17 potentiates radiosensitization of tumor cells by Hsp90 inhibition. Cancer Lett 2017; 390: 146–152, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2017.01.015, Epub2017 Jan 18. PubMed PMID: 28108313

Sun Y, Shu R, Zhang MZ Wu AP. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling plays a role in triggering periodontal infection. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2008; 52: 362-369

Tang L, Zhou XD, Wang Q, Zhang L, Wang Y, Li XY, Huang DM. Expression of TRAF6 and pro-inflammatory cytokines through activation of TLR2, TLR4, NOD1, and NOD2 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. Arch Oral Biol 2011; 56:1064-1072

Vargas-Roig LM, Fanelli MA, Lopez LA, Gago FE, Tello O, Aznar JC, Ciocca DR. Heat shock proteins and cell proliferation in human breast cancer biopsy samples. Cancer Detect Prev 1997; 21: 441–451Wang H, Bloom O, Zhang M. HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. Science 1999; 285: 248-251

Wen W, Liu W, Shao Y, Chen L. VER155008, a small molecule inhibitor of HSP70 with potent anti-cancer activity on lung cancer cell lines. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2014; 239: 638-645

Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ. Transcription factor AP-1 regulation by mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways. J Mol Med (Berl) 1996; 74: 589-607

Wolf M, Lossdörfer S, Römer P, Kirschneck C, Küpper K, Deschner J, Jäger A. Shortterm heat pre-treatment modulates the release of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in hPDL cells following mechanical loading and affects monocyte behavior. Clin Oral Investig 2016; 20: 923-931

5. Acknowledgements

Hereby I thank my supervisors Professor Michael Wolf and Professor Andreas Jäger for offering the opportunity of entering the PhD student program to me that they supported throughout the years with their assistance, constant support and advice from the beginning until the end.

I continue to thank the further members of my PhD committee, Professor Peter Proff and Professor James Deschner whose help and interest in my work I appreciate very much. Furthermore, I thank Professor Stefan Lossdörfer for his support at writing scientific articles together with Professor Michael Wolf and Dr. Rogerio Craveiro. In addition, I thank Professor Werner Götz for his advice whenever I had questions about research issues. I am grateful to all the colleagues who have been supportive concerning the research I have been doing throughout the years since starting my work and PhD.

I thank Mrs. Inka Bay, Mrs. Ramona Menden, PD Dr. Marjan Nokhbehsaim and Mrs. Silke van Dyck for their support and advice concerning cell culture, stimulation of cells by means of the inhibitors plus performance and evaluation of the experiments. Further I want to thank all colleagues for their willingness for letting me use the technical equipment in their laboratories and for providing me with their advice for using them. I thank PD Dr. Jochen Winter, Mrs. Imke Beier and Ms Diana Lalaouni for their instructions in order to use their RT-PCR machine and photometer plus Semi-Dry transfer cell and their technical equipment for performing and evaluating Western blots, respectively.

Moreover, I offer my thanks to PD Dr. Christian Kirschneck and Kathrin Bauer from the Orthodontics research lab in Regensburg for providing us with the glass plates and instructions about their use in order to perform *in vitro* experiments by stimulation of cultured hPDL cells with compressive force for simulating orthodontic tooth movement.

I am most grateful for the support my family and friends have been providing towards me throughout my life and for decisions I have been taking including the PhD.

Finally I gratefully acknowledge the support and gained knowledge mediated by the Bonn International Graduate School Clinical and Population science and everyone who is involved, especially Professor Thomas Klockgether, Paunica Giesler, Professor Christoph Bourauel and my fellow PhD students.